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/// Key Financial and Property Figures

Consolidated Statement of Income (in EUR millions)
Q1

2017
Q1

2016
Net rental income 43.9 42.0

Earnings from property lettings 30.8 30.7
Earnings from the sale of properties 4.6 5.5

EBIT 32.5 33.0

Consolidated net profit 3.0 4.5

FFO I 7.9 5.7

FFO I per share in EUR 1) 0.13 0.10

FFO II 9.4 8.9

FFO II per share in EUR 1) 0.16 0.16

Consolidated Balance Sheet (in EUR millions) 31.03.2017 31.12.2016
Investment properties 2,474.4 2,442.0

EPRA NAV 1,055.0 1,069.9

EPRA NAV per share in EUR 1) 18.09 18.35

LTV (%) 2) 57.7 61.3

Cashflow (in EUR millions)
Q1

2017
Q1

2016
Net cash flow from operating activities -0.6 18.8

Net cash flow from investing activities 389.9 14.0

Net cash flow from financing activities -321.1 -14.6

Employees 31.03.2017 31.12.2016
Number of employees 425 354

FTEs (Full-time-equivalents) 389 319
1) Based on the number of shares outstanding as at balance sheet date plus shares from assumed conversion of mandatory bond, which is considered as equity 
2) Excluding convertible bonds
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/// Property figures

as at 31.03.2017
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Dear Ladies and Gentlemen, 

In the first quarter of 2017 we made progress in all areas of activity which have occupied us for some time 
now. First of all, we took our next step in terms of internalising the administration of our property holdings. 
At the beginning of the year, we took over the administration of a further total of more than 10,000 rental 
units previously administered on our behalf by external service providers. To this end, last year we worked to 
gradually develop and extend a proprietary organisation, structured it along regional lines and established a 
centralised accounting structure for rents and operating costs. We had to recognise, though, that a transition 
of this kind can hardly be implemented without “friction losses”. In January and February, our key operating 
figures were initially not satisfactory. By March, however, we had regained a positive lettings balance, i.e. the 
number of new tenants moving in exceeded the number of former tenants moving out. 

In improving our key operating figures, we will be assisted by a new tenant retention instrument that we 
developed in the first quarter and will launch in part of our portfolio for the first time at the beginning of 
May – the ADLER Tenant App. This facilitates direct communications between landlords and tenants. If this 
new instrument works as expected, it should improve the quality of our relationship with our tenants. We are 
extremely confident that this will be the case. As a company, ADLER has, to date, largely been unknown to its 
tenants, with service providers alien to the Group acting as administrators and janitors. The administration 
and janitor services are now called ADLER Wohnen Service and ADLER Facility Management and the new 
app makes ADLER the exclusive contact partner. We have thus laid a further foundation for successfully of-
fering all-round support services to our tenants. In future, not only will they know ADLER, but they will have 
specific and, we hope, positive associations with the name. 

Alongside the goal of improving our operations, we also set ourselves the task of further reducing our liabili-
ties and the resultant interest charge. Here, too, we have taken several steps forward. Thanks to the improve-
ment in our liquidity due to the sale of conwert shares to Vonovia in January, we already bought back promis-
sory notes of EUR 27 million on which we had previously paid interest of around 7.0 percent. Moreover, we 
called the 2014/2019 corporate bond and repaid this on 10 May. This bond had a volume of EUR 130 million 
and charged annual interest of 6.0 percent. Furthermore, the group company ACCENTRO called a bond of 
EUR 10 million with a term running until 2018. This bond, which previously charged interest at 9.25 percent, 
will be repaid on 26 June 2017. These two terminations will significantly reduce our future interest charge, a 
factor not yet reflected in our financial statements for the first quarter.

In parallel with the termination of the corporate bond, we stocked up our existing 2015/2010 corporate bond 
by EUR 150 million at an interest rate of 2.5 percent. This way, we not only secured favourable financing 
terms but also laid a foundation to pursue our third key target – further, continuous growth in our property 
holdings. We thus have funds at our disposal enabling us to react to market opportunities at short notice. 
We seized one such opportunity in the first quarter already, when we drew on proprietary funds to acquire a 
portfolio of 701 rental units in Osterholz-Scharmbeck and Schwanewede near Bremen. We intend to continue 
making comparable acquisitions, to which end we are reviewing various, mostly smaller-scale, property port-
folios with a total volume of several thousand units. 

/// Letter from the Management Board

 / / /  L e t t e r  f r o m  t h e  M a n ag e m e n t  B oa r d
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///  L e t t e r  f r o m  t h e  M a n ag e m e n t  B oa r d

We are convinced that moderate growth also provides our shareholders with a reasonable outlook for the fu-
ture. We created value this way in the past and intend to do so in the future as well. To nevertheless enable our 
shareholders to benefit directly from our business performance, the Management and Supervisory Boards 
have agreed to propose for approval at the Annual General Meeting in June the issue of bonus shares from 
company funds at a ratio of 1:10 by converting a corresponding share of capital reserves. 

Yours faithfully, 

Arndt Krienen					S     ven-Christian Frank
CEO						COO       
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/// Portfolio

/// ADLER on the capital markets
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/// Portfolio 

ADLER Real Estate AG pursues two business objectives – letting permanently held properties and trading 
with properties held for short periods specifically for this purpose. In the balance sheet, the properties perma-
nently let out are recognised at fair value under “investment properties”, while the properties held for trading 
are recognised at cost under “inventories”. At the end of the first quarter of 2017, ADLER Real Estate AG held 
a total of 50,640 letting units, of which 2,407 units were held for trading and 48,233 units for permanent 
letting. 

THE RENTAL PORTFOLIO
 
Focus on residential property

ADLER essentially sees itself as a provider of rented apartments. Consistent with this approach, these ac-
count for 47,144 units and thus 97.8 percent of the properties held for permanent letting. This being said, the 
overall portfolio also includes a small share of commercial units. In a certain sense, these can be considered a 
by-product as some of the inner-city residential properties also include shop or office space. There were 1,089 
such units at the end of the first quarter of 2017, accounting for a 2.2 percent share of the portfolio of proper-
ties held for permanent letting. 

Slight increase in property holdings in first quarter of 2017 

The number of rental units held for permanent letting increased slightly in the first three months of 2017. 
A total of 108 units were sold in the course of streamlining the portfolio to remove units no longer viewed 
as forming part of the core portfolio. The acquisition in Q1 of 701 rental units of a housing portfolio in 
Osterholz-Scharmbeck and Schwanewede have strengthened the portfolio at the end of the first quarter. This 
acquisition shows that the ADLER Group has once again adopted a course of moderate growth in 2017.

Portfolio realignment 31.03.2017 31.12.2016
Divestments Additions

Rental portfolio 48,233 108 701 47,640

	 – of which residential units 47,144 76 693 46,527

	 – of which commercial units 1,089 32 8 1,113

Units for privatisation 2,407 169 154 2,422
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“Non-core” portfolio to be disposed of 
 
ADLER Real Estate AG intends to dispose of holdings that are economically weak or no longer fit its business 
model. As at the reporting date, the company had specific intentions to sell a total of 2,752 rental units, cor-
responding to 5.8 percent of its existing portfolio. The following table presents the key performance data and 
average market values of the units in this portfolio, which is designated as the non-core portfolio, compared 
with the figures for the core portfolio (core properties). 

“Core” and “Non-core” portfolio Total1) Core Non core

Rental units 47,532 44,780 2,752

Ø rent/sqm/month in EUR 5.04 5.07 4.50

Occupancy rate in % 89.4 90.6 72.0

Market value/sqm in EUR 807 830 487

NRI-multiple 14.6 14.8 12.1

1) Excluding the 701 units acquired in Q1

Key performance data only partly improved

In the first quarter of 2017, the Group was able to improve its key performance data again. For the portfo-
lio as a whole the average rent per square metre per month stood at EUR 5.04 at the end of the first quar-
ter 2017 and thus EUR 0.10 higher than one year earlier. At the same time, the occupancy rate reached 
89.4 percent, which also was better than at the same point in time in the prior year (88.8 percent). In compari-
son to the rate reached at the end of 2016, the occupancy rate decreased slightly, however. This was mainly 
due to the fact that, given the massive transition in tenant support services from external service providers to 
group-internal property and facility management, avoiding a certain volume of “friction losses” has not been 
possible. These were reflected above all in a temporary increase in the tenant turnover rate in January and 
February and thus in a slightly higher vacancy rate at the end of the quarter. By March, however, the Group 
had regained a positive net lettings balance, i.e. the number of new tenants moving in was higher than the 
number of existing tenants moving out. The Group’s key performance data was additionally held back by the 
first-time inclusion of new holdings in Erfurt. Following proprietary project development, ADLER included 
these in its rental portfolio – and thus began marketing them – at the end of last year. This portfolio has de-
veloped positively, but was only partly let out at the end of the first quarter. 

The following table presents the changes for the core portfolio on a like-for-like basis, i.e. only for those prop-
erties that were in the portfolio both in the first quarter of 2016 and in the first quarter of 2017.

Rental portfolio 
(Core)
Like-for-like 
(Q1 2017 to Q1 2016)

Residen-
tial and 

commercial 
units Change Residential Change Commercial Change 

Units 44,261 43,357 904
Ø rent/sqm/month in EUR 5.06 1.6% 5.02 1.7% 6.04 -0.1%

Occupancy rate (%) 91.0 0.6 PP 91.6 0.5 PP 78.8 1.0 PP
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Fair value without substantial change in first quarter

The fair value of the portfolio calculated in accordance with IFRS amounted to EUR 2.474.4 million at 
the end of the first quarter of 2017 as compared to EUR 2,442.0 million at the end of last year. The in-
crease was mainly due to the acquisition of a portfolio of 701 rental units near Bremen. ADLER expended 
EUR 10,0 million on maintenance and modernisation measures in the first quarter of 2017, and thus more 
than in the previous year (EUR 9,4 million). Of this total, EUR 5,6 million related to ongoing maintenance 
work and EUR 4,4 million to renovation and modernisation measures eligible for capitalisation (previous 
year: EUR 5,6 million and EUR 3,8 million, respectively). 

Key focuses in north and west of Germany

ADLER limits its business activities to Germany and most of its properties are located in the northern and 
western parts of the country. More than half of ADLER’s properties are in the federal states of Lower Saxony 
(35.0 percent of the overall portfolio) and North Rhine-Westphalia (19.6 percent of the overall portfolio). 
More than 40 percent of ADLER’s portfolio is located in the eastern part of the country, with key focuses here 
in Saxony (15.7 percent), Brandenburg (7.7 percent) and Saxony-Anhalt (7.3 percent).

ADLER mainly owns properties on the edges of conurbations. That is particularly apparent in North Rhine-
Westphalia, where all of the company’s properties are in the Ruhr, which still is Germany’s largest industrial 
region. In Lower Saxony, the property holdings are mainly located in the Wolfsburg/Braunschweig/Helmstedt 
region, a traditionally strong region in economic terms, and in Wilhelmshaven, a region which is benefiting 
from the new deep water port and from what is the German Navy’s largest base on the North Sea. In Saxo-
ny and Saxony-Anhalt, the properties are predominantly located in the catchment areas for Halle, Leipzig, 
Chemnitz and Dresden – cities which after German reunification initially lost their industry and part of their 
populations but which are now all benefiting from strong growth once more.

Property holdings on the edges of conurbations are typically characterised by higher vacancy rates, but also 
generate higher rent yields than properties in central or “A” locations. Peripheral locations benefit to a par-
ticularly marked extent from tight rental markets in city centres. When rents rise in desirable locations in 
the centre and no more affordable flats are available, then price-sensitive demand in particular automatically 
shifts to the surrounding areas.

Top 20 locations generate almost two thirds of rental income

The focus on metropolitan regions outlined above also means that the properties in ADLER’s 10 most im-
portant towns and cities account for almost half of the company’s total rental income while those in the 
top 20 locations generate almost two thirds of total rental income. Wilhelmshaven is the Group’s most impor-
tant location, with an annual basic net rent of EUR 22.2 million, followed by Duisburg with EUR 16.4 million, 
Berlin with EUR 7.5 million, Wolfsburg with EUR 5.6 million and Cottbus with EUR 5.1 million. ADLER does 
not play a significant role in the local housing markets in any of its top 20 locations apart from Wilhelmshav-
en, where almost one fifth of local housing belongs to the Group. This scale of dominance in a specific market 
is not automatically a disadvantage. That is apparent in the occupancy rate in Wilhelmshaven at the end of the 
first quarter of 2017, which at 91.9 percent was clearly ahead of the group average. 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Location
Residential 

units
Ø rent/sqm/

month in EUR
Occupancy rate 

in %

Wilhelmshaven 6,879 4.78 91.9

Duisburg 4,162 5.25 98.0

Cottbus 1,867 4.54 85.0

Berlin 1,698 5.61 98.1

Halle 1,656 4.49 86.7

Wolfsburg 1,300 5.42 97.0

Helmstedt 1,219 4.99 94.2

Leipzig 1,167 4.38 93.4

Goettingen 1,139 4.93 95.1

Chemnitz 972 4.78 78.9

22.2
Wilhelmshaven

16.4
Duisburg

7.5
Berlin

5.6
Wolfsburg

5.1
Cottbus

4.4
Halle (Saale)

4.3
Göttingen

4.1
Helmstedt

3.0
Chemnitz

2.9
Ludwigshafen

2.9
Dortmund

2.6
Borna

2.6
Norden

2.6
Düsseldorf

2.5
Schöningen

2.4
Aurich

2.3
Schwerin

1.9
Fürstenwalde

1.7
Erfurt

3.5
Leipzig
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Focus on small to medium-sized residential units

The residential portfolio at all of the locations where ADLER is present largely comprises small to medium-
sized residential units. The apartments have an average size of slightly more than 60 square metres and are 
thus well aligned to address the needs of the company’s target group, namely tenants with low to medium 
incomes. ADLER also sees this alignment as making economic sense. Its properties satisfy the trend observed 
for some time now towards an ongoing increase in the number of single-person households in Germany, and 
that despite a decline in the country’s overall population. Not only that, the risk of tenants with low incomes 
defaulting on their rent payments is reduced as they can obtain support from social security providers if they 
are unable to settle their obligations from their own incomes. Furthermore, this category of affordable liv-
ing space is now also in the sights of municipal and local councils on the lookout for permanent homes for 
refugees.

Size of apartment Units
 % of total 

units
Ø rent/sqm/

month in EUR

< 45 sqm 6,428 13.8 5.75

> = 45 and < 60 sqm 15,741 33.9 4.91

> = 60 and < 75 sqm 16,445 35.4 4.96

> = 75 and < 90 sqm 6,022 13.0 4.93

> 90 sqm 1,815 3.9 4.80

Total 46,4511) 100.0 5.00

1) Excluding the 701 units acquired in Q1 

Customer orientation with in-house property and facility management

ADLER has set itself the target of offering its tenants virtually the whole range of residential services on an 
in-house basis, rather than via third-party service providers as was the case in the past. To establish maxi-
mum direct contact to its tenants, in 2016 ADLER pooled its in-house property management activities at the 
newly founded company ADLER Wohnen Service GmbH. This company has now built up a regional structure 
suitable for it to organise the management of all group properties. By the beginning of 2017, this was the case 
for just over half of the portfolio. By early 2018, all properties should be managed and supported by internal 
group employees. 

The Group is taking a similar approach in its facility management, i.e. for tradesman and caretaker services at 
and in the properties. Here, too, ADLER intends to perform the predominant share of activities using in-house 
resources. To this end, ADLER Facility Management GmbH (previously: Arkadio Facility Management GmbH) 
has also developed a regional structure largely corresponding to its property management counterpart. 

ADLER expects this evolution into an integrated property group to boost tenant satisfaction and reduce their 
turnover rates. This process should be assisted by the ADLER Tenant App, an innovative and thus far unique 
instrument in the sector which was launched at the beginning of May and is intended to facilitate communi-
cation with tenants and boost tenant retention rates.
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Programme to reduce vacancies progressing on schedule 

In mid-2016, ADLER initiated a programme to renovate 1,500 vacant residential units, most of which have 
long been vacant, in order to bring them back in line with market standards and thus reduce the vacancy rate. 
By the end of the first quarter of 2017, renovation work had been completed on a total of 515 apartments, 
while the relevant work had been commissioned for a further total of around 700 apartments. The project is 
thus absolutely on schedule. In most cases, renovation has involved replacing the flooring, completely renew-
ing the bathrooms, redesigning the tiled sections in the kitchens, relaying electric cables and in some cases 
also replacing doors and windows. The work has been rounded off by giving the apartments a fresh coat of 
paint. Expenses of EUR 10,000 have been budgeted for each apartment. Based on experience to date, once the 
work has been completed it takes two to three months to find new tenants for the apartments. By the end of 
the first quarter of 2017, that was the case for 380 of the newly renovated apartments. The programme is to 
be fully implemented by the end of 2017.

THE TRADING PORTFOLIO

The trading business and privatisation of residential units are handled by the group company ACCENTRO 
Real Estate AG. At the end of the first quarter of 2017, 2,407 rental units earmarked for privatisation were 
recognised in the balance sheet, 15 units fewer than at the beginning of the year (2,422 units). ACCENTRO 
has already increased its portfolio again by acquiring 729 units in Berlin and Leipzig, although rights and 
obligations have not been transferred in the first quarter. 

Most of the trading properties are located in Berlin, and thus in a market that has proven to be especially 
lucrative for the privatisation business in recent years and is also expected to maintain its dynamic perfor-
mance. 
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/// ADLER on the capital market 

Real estate stocks with positive momentum

The German stock market performed positively in the first quarter of 2017. At just over 12,000 points, the 
DAX reached what was then its highest level ever at the end of the period under report. The SDAX, the index 
in which ADLER has been listed since June 2015, showed similar developments. At more than 10,000 points, 
this index also reached a historic high. Compared with the beginning of the year, the DAX rose by just under 
6.0 percent, while the SDAX gained almost 5.5 percent.

Real estate stocks were once again in greater demand in the first quarter of 2017 than in the second half of 
2016, when they came under comparatively severe pressure due to the expectation of higher interest rates. 
Solactive DIMAX, the index comprising Germany’s main listed property companies, was more than 2.7 per-
cent higher at the end of March than at the beginning of the year. Real estate stocks thus performed positively 
in the first quarter, but not as strongly as the overall market.

The same is true of ADLER’s share. Having opened the year at just under EUR 14.50, the share price rose to 
EUR 15.35 in February, subsequently fell below EUR 14.00 and recovered to almost EUR 14.00 at the end 
of March. No direct connection was apparent between these developments and the news published by the 
company. Following the announcement of the company’s strong results for 2016, the share mostly fluctuated 
between EUR 14 and EUR 15 in April. 

A D L E R  R eal    E s t at e  A G  A k t ie  ,  D A X ,  S D A X  A N D  D I M A X  S I N C E  J A N U A R Y  2 0 1 6  |  J A N U A R Y  2 0 1 6  =  1 0 0
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Number of shares increased by conversion of existing convertible bonds

As in the previous year, the increase in the number of shares in circulation in 2017 is solely attributable to the 
conversion of existing convertible bonds, all of which were “in the money”. The number of shares outstand-
ing amounted to 47,702,374 at the beginning of 2017. By the end of the period under report, i.e. at the end 
of March 2017, this total had risen by 0.2 percent to 47,711,028 shares. The shareholder structure remained 
unchanged during the first quarter of 2017. Based on the notifications received by ADLER from shareholders 
when crossing the relevant thresholds, the shareholder structure as at 31 March 2017 was as follows:

S h are   h ol  d er   S t ruc   t ure    A S  AT  3 1  Marc    h  2 0 1 7

Free Float, 42.60 %

Klaus Wecken, 24.95 %

Mezzanine IX Investors S. A., 21.05 %

Thomas Bergander, 6.34 %

Asset Value Investors Ltd., 5.06 %
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ADLER substantially improved its property 
management performance indicators in the first 
quarter of 2017 – with higher average rents and 
a higher occupancy rate.
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/// Fundamentals of ADLER Real Estate AG Group
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/// Fundamentals of ADLER Real Estate AG Group 

Business model

The business model of ADLER Real Estate AG comprises two 
fields of activity – Rental (investment properties) and Trad-
ing (inventory properties). The company’s segment report-
ing is structured accordingly.

The Rental segment characterises the activities of the 
Group’s central Asset Management department, which man-
ages residential units held in the portfolio in technical and 
commercial terms. It performs these activities mostly under 
its own management. Where this is not the case, it man-
ages third-party property management companies by way 
of service agreements. With ADLER Wohnen Service GmbH, 
which was founded in 2016, ADLER now has a company at 
which group-internal activities in the field of property man-
agement, including existing activities at Wohnungsbaug-
esellschaft JADE mbH in Wilhelmshaven and WBG GmbH in 
Helmstedt, are due to be pooled in the near future. ADLER 
intends to further expand this section of its value chain and 
fully integrate it into the Group by the end of 2017. 

The Trading segment is largely managed and directed by a 
standalone group company, ACCENTRO Real Estate AG, 
in which ADLER Real Estate AG owns 86.7 percent of the 
shares.

Rental

All activities related to the management of properties due to 
be retained in the portfolio on a permanent basis are pooled 
in the Rental segment. These relate almost exclusively to 
residential units. This portfolio has been built up over the 
past five years by acquiring individual portfolios or shares 
in property companies. It is regularly reviewed, adjusted in 
line with earnings and value considerations and developed 
further with the aim of increasing rental income and reduc-
ing the vacancy rate. The properties are regularly valued by 
independent surveyors. With a portfolio of almost 50,000 
units, ADLER is now one of Germany’s top six listed prop-
erty companies.

ADLER intends to further expand this portfolio by making 
additional acquisitions in the future. As in previous years, 
ADLER will be focusing its investments on residential prop-
erty portfolios in “B” locations and on the edges of large 
conurbations, where rental yields are typically higher than 
in inner-city “A” locations. When suitable market opportu-
nities arise, however, ADLER also supplements its portfolio 
by investing in so-called “A” cities, such as Berlin, in order 
to benefit from value growth in these markets. Either way, 
ADLER believes acquisitions only make sense when the prop-
erties promise to generate positive cash flows directly from 
acquisition onwards.

The apartments in ADLER’s portfolio have an average size of 
around 60 square metres and have two or three main rooms. 
The average monthly rent amounts to EUR 5.04 per square 
metre. ADLER thus operates in a market segment focused 
on people earning mid to below-average wages. ADLER of-
fers decent living quality at appropriate market prices to this 
target group. Demand for affordable living space is contin-
uing to grow as the average age of the population is rising 
in conjunction with an increasing number of single-person 
households. Furthermore, people are moving to Germany 
from various parts of the EU as they see better employment 
prospects here, while others are coming to Germany as asy-
lum seekers from further afield. Simultaneously, the supply 
of new housing in this segment remains low as construction 
prices are so high that it is not possible to generate attrac-
tive returns based on the existing level of rent. The recently 
introduced political measures aimed at promoting the devel-
opment of new housing have so far had little impact in this 
respect. 

In the balance sheet, rental properties are typically recog-
nised as investment properties at their fair values, which 
in turn are determined by specialised independent valua-
tion companies. Changes in property values are recognised 
through profit or loss in the income statement and also 
change the Group’s net asset value (NAV).

18 ADLER REAL ESTATE ///  I n teri    m  re  p o rt   f o r  t h e  f irst     t h ree    m o n t h s  o f  2017

///  F u n da m e n ta l s  o f  ADLER      R e a l  E s tat e  AG  G r o u p



Trading

Operations in the Trading segment involve the purchase and 
sale of residential properties and individual apartments. At 
the ADLER Group, this segment is primarily covered by the 
majority interest in the listed company ACCENTRO Real 
Estate AG. ACCENTRO markets suitable residential proper-
ties and individual apartments from the ADLER Group and 
also on behalf of third parties to owner-occupiers and capi-
tal investors in Germany and abroad. According to its own 
assessment, ACCENTRO is Germany’s largest privatiser of 
residential property.

Acting for the Trading segment, ACCENTRO regularly ac-
quires residential properties that are suitable for privatisa-
tion. As they are intended for sale, these properties are then 
only held for short periods. Given that the Trading segment 
accords priority to marketability factors, when selecting 
properties ACCENTRO does not automatically target the 
same locations as those favoured in the Rental business, but 
consciously also includes properties in “A” cities in its target 
portfolio.

In the balance sheet, properties held for trading are recog-
nised at cost as inventories. These items are typically not 
subject to value changes. Only when they are sold is the dif-
ference between the sale price and their respective carry-
ing amount recognised through profit or loss in the income 
statement.

Targets and strategies

ADLER Real Estate AG bases its decisions on sustainably 
increasing the company’s value. All aspects of the corporate 
strategy are aligned towards this objective. The company’s 
value is measured by reference to net asset value (NAV) as 
defined by the European Public Real Estate Association 
(EPRA), of which ADLER is a member. 

Strategy for the Rental segment

The value of the property portfolio portrayed in the Rental 
segment can mainly be increased by achieving the highest 
possible income from letting activities and ensuring that 
these results remain stable over time. The objective of asset 
management is therefore to raise occupancy rates and rental 
income. Value growth can also be generated by expanding 
the existing portfolio and exploiting corresponding benefits 
of scale or by changing and optimising the existing portfolio 
in order to identify and sell those assets less likely to retain 
their value.

When the portfolios are extended by way of acquisitions, the 
earnings strength can be boosted by exploiting benefits of 
scale, as certain fixed costs can then be distributed across a 
larger portfolio, with a corresponding reduction in the abso-
lute charge per individual unit. Costs can also be reduced and 
the efficiency of property management enhanced by group-
ing services at external service providers or by centralising 
and pooling tasks within the Group. 

The key focus in optimising the existing portfolio involves 
identifying properties that are only able to make below-
average contributions to the Group’s overall income due to 
their location or their qualities. Once these are sold, this au-
tomatically increases the earnings strength of the remaining 
portfolio. 

Rental portfolios are managed by the Asset Management de-
partment, which was reorganised in mid-2016 and provided 
with a centralised structure at the company’s headquarters in 
Berlin. Asset Management takes measures to reduce vacancy 
rates, exploit opportunities to increase rents, and maintain 
or enhance the portfolio’s rental capacity – for example, 
by implementing maintenance or building modernisation 
measures. High residential value makes the apartments at-
tractive and thus easier to let out. It goes without saying that 
in its investment measures the Asset Management depart-
ment always takes due account of the costs and benefits of 
individual measures. In addition to ongoing maintenance 
and modernisation measures, in 2016 the Group introduced 
a programme to renovate a total of around 1,500 previ-
ously unoccupied apartments and made a sum of around 
EUR 15 million available for this purpose. This programme 
should be completed by the end of 2017 and should help to 
reduce the existing vacancy rate and resultant costs.
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Strategy for the Trading segment

In its Trading segment, ADLER creates value by generating the 
highest possible return on its purchases and sales of residen-
tial properties and individual apartments. ACCENTRO Real 
Estate AG, the group subsidiary responsible for this business 
field, in some cases draws on properties from within the port-
folio of the ADLER Group and partly on properties specifically 
acquired for trading. ADLER intends to maintain a sufficiently 
large portfolio of properties earmarked for privatisation at all 
times in order to generate as consistent a stream of income as 
possible and thus not have to rely on opportunistic sales. For 
this reason, a large share of the income generated from the 
sale of properties is used to restock the supply of inventory 
properties and maintain these at a suitable level.

Financing strategy

Due to economic efficiency and risk considerations, ADLER 
believes that the appropriate ratio of equity to debt for fi-
nancing its group activities is one that produces a loan-to-
value (LTV) of between 50 percent and 60 percent. This auto-
matically makes it necessary to finance future acquisitions at 
corresponding ratios. In terms of its debt financing, ADLER 
aims to achieve as homogenous a maturity structure as pos-
sible over time. By repaying existing liabilities or refinanc-
ing existing facilities on more favourable terms, ADLER also 
aims to reduce its average interest charge.

ADLER has good access both to the market for secured bank 
lending and to the market for unsecured financing. This was 
apparent in mid-2016 once again, when the company suc-
cessfully placed a convertible bond on the market. This two-
pronged market access reduces the risks associated with ob-
taining debt capital and also contributes to reducing financing 
costs. Economic success sometimes depends on the company’s 
own speed of reaction. To be able to react to any market op-
portunities on short notice, ADLER retains authorised and 
conditional capital, both of which are approved by sharehold-
ers, which can be drawn on at any time to make acquisitions.

Acquisition strategy

To firmly establish itself as a major residential property 
player in Germany, ADLER aims to generate growth by mak-
ing acquisitions in the future as well. Size is not an end in 
itself, but rather a way to enhance viability by drawing on 
benefits of scale and efficiency gains. New portfolios for 
the Rental segment should be consistent with the existing 
business model, or supplement it in a way that makes sense. 
They should also be expected to generate positive cash flows 
directly from acquisition onwards. However, larger scale 
portfolios are currently not on offer on the market. Even for 
smaller property portfolios the prices are unattractive from 
a buyer’s perspective. In view of this situation, ADLER is also 
reviewing whether closer cooperation with project develop-
ers could harbour opportunities as the price differential be-
tween existing and new properties has noticeably reduced 
in some regions. ADLER nevertheless intends to further ex-
pand its property holdings in the years ahead by purchasing 
smaller portfolios, even if the resultant growth will not be as 
rapid as in 2014 and 2015.

New portfolios in the Trading segment have to be suitable for 
resale or privatisation, as in this segment ADLER aims for an 
average holding period of just a few years.

ADLER is able to take acquisition decisions on short notice 
and can offer sellers a high degree of transaction security.

Management System

Financial performance indicators

The financial performance indicators used by ADLER are: the 
net asset value (NAV) figure, typical for the sector, indicat-
ing the company’s value; funds from operations I (FFO I) to 
indicate cash flow-based operating earnings in the Rental 
segment; funds from operations II (FFO II) to indicate cash 
flow-based operating earnings in the Trading and Rental seg-
ments; and loan-to-value (LTV) to indicate financial stability. 

20 ADLER REAL ESTATE ///  I n teri    m  re  p o rt   f o r  t h e  f irst     t h ree    m o n t h s  o f  2017

///  F u n da m e n ta l s  o f  ADLER      R e a l  E s tat e  AG  G r o u p



In the Rental segment, greater priority is accorded to key fig-
ures based on the cash flow, as this corresponds to the tar-
get of generating sustainable inflows of cash from lettings. 
The Trading segment is, by contrast, more closely focused 
on earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) and thus on 
its contribution to the Group’s overall earnings. Having said 
this, in its group forecast ADLER Real Estate AG does not 
provide any disclosures on the Group’s expected EBIT, as this 
key figure is typically affected to a significant extent by non-
cash-effective valuation items in the Rental portfolio that are 
difficult to predict. The earnings expectations for the Trading 
segment are therefore portrayed in the FFO II forecast.

Non-financial performance indicators

Numerous non-financial performance indicators are regular-
ly monitored within the Group’s property management ac-
tivities. This applies both to the Group’s own property man-
agement and to the external service providers with which 
ADLER still expects to work through to the end of 2017. 
Among others, these indicators include the occupancy rate, 
the number of contract termination notices received from 
tenants, the number of new rental agreements, compliance 
with time schedules for maintenance measures, the availabil-
ity of property managers and so forth. Should actual figures 
deviate from budget figures on an ongoing basis, then correc-
tive measures are devised.

Non-financial performance indicators also play a major role 
upon the acquisition of new property portfolios. After all, 
the potential development in the value of a property also de-
pends on factors such as changes in infrastructure, expected 
demographic developments and potential changes in region-
al labour markets. An awareness or assessment of these key 
figures is factored into all decisions concerning the acquisi-
tion of properties or property portfolios.

Employees

As the group holding company, ADLER Real Estate AG has 
two Management Board members, but no proprietary em-
ployees. Operative tasks related to asset management and 
central administration for the Group are mostly performed 
via the whollyowned subsidiary ADLER Real Estate Service 
GmbH. Employees at this company are deployed to perform 
various tasks at the respective group companies on a flexible 
basis and in line with their individual specialisations. The 
predominant share of employees is employed at the divisions 
which are in charge of the property and facility management 
under the roof of the newly founded company ADLER Woh-
nen Service GmbH. Overall, at the reporting date for the 
period under report ADLER had a total of 425 full-time and 
part-time employees, 116 more than one year earlier. This 
growth was exclusively due to the expansion and internalisa-
tion of the Property Management and Facility Management 
departments. 

Research and development

As a property group, ADLER Real Estate AG does not perform 
any research and development in a traditional sense. Having 
said this, ongoing market checks are needed to assess future 
developments in housing markets. Here, ADLER draws on 
assessments compiled by estate agents’ associations, federal 
authorities, specialist research institutes, prestigious valua-
tion companies and bank research departments, as well as on 
its own experience of letting properties on location. Not only 
that, various developments in the construction sector and in 
building technology also have to be monitored and analysed, 
as do any changes in regulatory requirements. The insights 
gained from these analyses form an important basis for all 
of the company’s operating activities. With the Tenant App, 
which was launched at the beginning of May, ADLER has 
also introduced an innovative instrument, one so far unique 
in the sector, to improve communications with tenants and 
boost tenant retention.
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ADLER returned to a moderate growth course 
by acquiring a portfolio of 701 units in the first 
quarter of 2017.
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/// Economic report 

MACROECONOMIC AND SECTOR-SPECIFIC 
SETTINGS

The macroeconomic and sector-specific settings remained 
stable, and thus favourable for the property sector, in the 
first three months of the current financial year. Although 
no specific figures are yet available for the gross national 
product in the first quarter, in their joint forecast the lead-
ing economic research institutes still expect to see growth of 
1.4 percent. At 1.6 percent, the inflation rate was higher than 
in the previous year, but still at a low level. Employment to-
tals remain at historic highs, while interest rates, by contrast, 
are still at record lows. 

For a company like ADLER Real Estate AG that operates in 
two business fields, property lettings and property trading, 
both the transaction market and the housing rental market 
are relevant. According to the consultancy CBRE, transac-
tions worth EUR 3.2 billion were implemented in the trans-
action market for housing portfolios of 50 units upwards in 
the first quarter of 2017, significantly more than in the same 
period in the previous year (EUR 2.5 billion). The number of 
residential units thereby transferred decreased, but the aver-
age price per unit was significantly higher than the compara-
ble figure for the previous year. 

The climate in the housing rental market also remained 
stable in the first quarter of 2017. According to the Cost of 
Living Index, rents in Germany were 1.6 percent higher on 
a nationwide basis in March 2017 than in the same month 
in the previous year. Rents thus rose at the same rate as the 
overall cost of living. However, the average figure conceals 
variations between individual regions, urban and rural lo-
cations, new and existing housing and different apartment 
sizes. With its properties, ADLER Real Estate AG chiefly 
operates in “B” locations and on the periphery of conurba-
tions. Locations like these typically benefit from sharp rent 
increases in the centre of such agglomerations. Increases of 
this sort have been seen in most towns in Germany. After all, 
tenants no longer able or willing to pay higher rents look for 
alternatives and are often prepared to accept living further 
from the centre of their town or city.

GROUP BUSINESS PERFORMANCE

Following its successful steps to generate growth in previ-
ous years, in 2016 ADLER Real Estate AG concentrated on 
reorganising its group structures and adapting these to the 
new requirements arising in the wake of the acquisitions 
made. These measures all serve the objective of developing 
ADLER into an integrated property group capable of offering 
all relevant services to tenants from a single source by the 
end of 2017. Consistent with this objective, at the beginning 
of the year, a further 10,000 residential units previously ad-
ministered by external service providers were insourced to 
ADLER’s own property and facility management services. 

In mid-January 2017, ADLER Real Estate AG received 
EUR 422 million from the sale of its 26 percent stake in 
conwert Immobilien Invest SE to Vonovia SE in the context 
of the voluntary offer made by Vonovia to shareholders in 
conwert. 

As previously announced, following receipt of the funds from 
the sale of its conwert shares in mid-January, ADLER Real 
Estate AG began to redeem higher-yielding liabilities. Dur-
ing the period under report, subordinate promissory note 
bonds with a nominal value of EUR 27.0 million were re-
paid. Furthermore, short-term loans with a total volume of 
EUR 199.4 million used to finance the acquisition of conwert 
shares were repaid directly upon the transaction.

In February, ADLER Real Estate AG acquired convertible 
bonds issued by group company ACCENTRO Real Estate AG 
with a value of EUR 12,3 million, with the target of keeping 
the share in that company stable even after the conversion 
rights have been exercised. 

In March, ADLER Real Estate AG signed a purchase agree-
ment to acquire a property portfolio with 693 residential 
and eight commercial units in Osterholz-Scharmbeck and 
Schwanewede. Located directly in the Bremen catchment 
area, these properties fit in with the objective of ADLER Real 
Estate AG of offering high-quality yet affordable living space 
on the periphery of conurbations. The portfolio, which gen-
erates a rental income of more than EUR 2 million a year, also 
represents an advantageous addition to the Group’s existing 
holdings in northern Germany. This acquisition underlines 
ADLER’s intention to expand the portfolio moderately once 
again following the year of consolidation in 2016.
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The group company ACCENTRO Real Estate AG called its 
2013/2018 bond at the end of March. This bond, which has 
a value of EUR 10 million and bears interest at 9.25 percent 
p.a., will be repaid on 26 June 2017 at 101.5 percent of the 
nominal amount plus interest accumulated and as yet unpaid 
as at the repayment date. 

In April, i.e. after the end of the period under report, ADLER 
Real Estate AG executed a private placement to stock up its 
2015/2020 bond by EUR 150 million at an interest rate of 
2.5 percent. This way, ADLER has created additional financial 
scope enabling it to decide at short notice on the acquisition 
of smaller-scale portfolios on favourable terms. ADLER is 

ADLER Real Estate AG reported in detail on the opportuni-
ties and risks involved in its business activities in its 2016 
Annual Report. Since then, the overall situation of ADLER 
Real Estate has changed only in one aspect.

ADLER Real Estate AG is involved in a legal dispute in con-
nection with the stake now sold in conwert Immobilien 
Invest SE. This dispute was triggered by the assessment 
reached by the Austrian Takeover Commission that ADLER 
had achieved a controlling stake in conwert by mutual agree-
ment with other persons and had then illegitimately failed 

/// Report on Risks and Opportunities

currently reviewing portfolios of this kind on a total scale of 
several thousand units. 

At the same time, the 2014/2019 bond with a value of 
EUR 130 million and an interest rate of 6.0 percent was 
called and was repaid on 10 May 2017 at 101.5 percent of the 
nominal amount plus interest accumulated and as yet unpaid 
as at the repayment date. By taking this decision, ADLER has 
realised the intention previously communicated for some 
time now of repaying liabilities with higher interest rates as 
rapidly as possible and thus reducing its interest expenses 
and boosting its FFO. 

to make a mandatory bid. The company had appealed against 
this assessment to the Supreme Court which, however, con-
firmed the contents of the assessment by the Takeovers 
Commission on 13 April, 2017. The company could therefore 
face a number of restitution proceedings. As far as can be 
seen, proceedings of this nature have not been conducted 
in Austria in the past. From a current perspective, neither 
the number nor the specific structure of such cases can be 
determined. ADLER Real Estate AG continues to refute the 
accusations raised against it by the Austrian Takeover Com-
mission and is reviewing appropriate legal measures.
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/// �Report on events after the balance sheet date

/// Outlook

ADLER Real Estate AG also reported in detail on its expecta-
tions for the current financial year in its 2016 Annual Re-
port. These forecasts have not changed since then. ADLER 
Real Estate AG continues to expect that the macroeconomic 
framework for companies operating in the property sector 
will remain favourable overall in 2017. By the end of the year, 
the occupancy rate should be around four percentage points 
higher than at the beginning of the year, while average rents 
should rise by 1 to 2 percent and net rental income should 
increase by more than 3 percent in 2017. 

FFO I should rise to more than EUR 40 million in 2017, 
equivalent to an increase of around 50 percent, while FFO II 
should amount to around EUR 50 million.

The company’s financial indicators will improve, in some cas-
es significantly so, in 2017. Over the course of the year, LTV 
should decrease to around 55 percent – a target that has also 
not changed following the financing measures implemented 
in April, while average debt interest should decline to around 
3.5 percent. 

For its NAV, ADLER expects to see growth in a low double-
digit percentage range in 2017.

In April, ADLER Real Estate AG executed a private placement 
to stock up its 2015/2020 bond by EUR 150 million at an 
interest rate of 2.5 percent. This way, ADLER has created ad-
ditional financial scope enabling it to decide at short notice 
on the acquisition of smaller-scale portfolios on favourable 
terms. ADLER is currently reviewing portfolios of this kind on 
a total scale of several thousand units. 

The 2014/2019 bond with a volume of EUR 130 million and an 
interest rate of 6.0 percent was terminated at the same time. 
This was repaid on 10 May 2017 at 101.5 percent of the nomi-
nal amount plus interest accumulated and as yet unpaid as at 
the repayment date. By taking this decision, ADLER has im-
plemented the intention previously communicated for some 

time now of repaying those liabilities with high interest rates 
as rapidly as possible and thus reducing its interest expenses 
and boosting its FFO. 

With the invitation to the 2017 Annual General Meeting, the 
Management and Supervisory Boards proposed issuing bonus 
shares at a ratio of 1:10 to enable shareholders to participate 
in the company’s successful growth in recent years. 

At the beginning of May, ADLER introduced a Tenant App, 
an innovative instrument so far unique in the sector, which is 
intended to facilitate communication with tenants and boost 
tenant retention. 
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RESULT FROM OPERATIONS

ADLER Real Estate AG generates its revenues from two main 
activities – property management and property sales. Its 
business model is based on these activities, which are cor-
respondingly reflected in the statement of comprehensive 
income and the segment report.

/// �Results from operations, net assets and 
financial position

In EUR millions Q1 2017 Q1 2016 
Gross rental income 66.9 65.5

	 of which net rental income 43.9 42.0

Expenses from property lettings -36.1 -34.8

Earnings from property lettings 30.8 30.7

Income from the sale of properties 27.4 21.6

Expenses from the sale of properties -22.8 -16.1

Earnings from the sale of properties 4.6 5.5

Personnel expenses -5.3 -4.3

Other operating income 2.3 1.5

Other operating expenses -7.3 -5.0

Income from fair value adjustments of investment properties 7.7 4.8

Depreciation and amortisation -0.3 -0.3

Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) 32.5 33.0

Net income from at-equity valued investment associates 0 0.6

Financial result -24.3 -24.9

Earnings before taxes (EBT) 8.2 8.7

Consolidated net profit 3.0 4.5

Income and earnings from property lettings at 
previous year’s level

Gross rental income, predominantly comprising income 
from property lettings, came to EUR 66.9 million in the first 
quarter of 2017 and was thus slightly higher than in the 
equivalent period in the previous year (EUR 65.5 million). 
At 48,233, the total number of rental units belonging to the 
ADLER Group at the end of the quarter was slightly higher 
than at the same point in the previous year (48,055 units). 
However, the acquisitions made in the first quarter did not 
yet contribute to income as the respective rights and obliga-
tions were only transferred at the end of the quarter.

Gross rental income nevertheless benefited from the further 
improvement achieved in our property management per-
formance indicators. At the end of the first quarter of 2017, 

the average contractually agreed rent per square metre per 
month amounted to EUR 5.04, EUR 0.10 higher than the 
figure for the equivalent quarter in the previous year (EUR 
4.94). At 89.4 percent, the occupancy rate was also higher 
than one year earlier (88.8 percent). However, the occupancy 
rate decreased compared with the figure achieved by the end 
of the previous year. This was mainly due to the fact that, 
given the massive transition in tenant support services from 
external service providers to internal group property and fa-
cility management departments, it was not possible to avoid 
a certain degree of frictional losses. The Group’s key perfor-
mance data was additionally held back by the first-time inclu-
sion of new holdings in Erfurt. Following proprietary project 
development, ADLER included these in its rental portfolio – 
and thus began marketing them – at the end of last year. This 
portfolio has developed positively, but was only partly let out 
at the end of the first quarter.
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Expenses from property lettings comprise apportionable and 
unapportionable operating costs and maintenance expenses. 
On a full-year basis, ADLER expects these expense items to 
grow less rapidly overall than its gross rental income. This is 
because they include expenses for external property manage-
ment service providers that should gradually be replaced by 
internal group services. This factor was not yet noticeable in 
the first quarter. At EUR 5.6 million, maintenance expenses 
were at the same level as in the previous year’s quarter.

Net of expenses from property lettings, earnings from prop-
erty lettings amounted to EUR 30.8 million in the first quar-
ter of 2017. This key figure was at the same level as in the 
previous year’s quarter (EUR 30.7 million).

Increase in income, but not earnings, from the 
sale of properties 

ADLER Real Estate AG generated an income of EUR 27.4 mil-
lion from the sale of properties in the first quarter of 2017, 
26.9 percent higher than in the same quarter in the previ-
ous year. Expenses, largely corresponding to the carrying 
amounts of the units sold, nevertheless also increased sig-
nificantly, as a result of which the remaining profit margin 
fell short of the equivalent previous year’s figure. Earnings 
from the sale of properties came to EUR 4.6 million in the 
first three months of the current financial year, as against 
EUR 5.5 million in the first quarter of the previous year. 
These earnings were chiefly attributable to trading and pri-
vatisation activities at the group subsidiary ACCENTRO Real 
Estate AG.

Sales of non-core units – one of ADLER’s strategic objec-
tives since the beginning of 2015 and intended to increase 
the performance capacity of the overall portfolio – are not 
reflected in earnings to any significant extent as they were 
predominantly executed at the respective carrying amounts. 
A total of 108 units were sold from the non-core holdings 
identified at the Group. Such units are earmarked for sale as 
they no longer fit in with ADLER’s business model.

Higher expenses offset by other income items and 
income from fair value adjustments of investment 
properties

The company’s growth has automatically been accompanied 
by increases in most expense items. Part of this cost growth 
is nevertheless due to the withdrawal of tasks from exter-
nal service providers in the context of the Group’s realign-
ment to become an integrated property group. These tasks 
have been assumed by internal group departments that have 
either been newly founded or had their personnel resources 
increased. As a result, the Group had a total of 425 employ-
ees at the end of the first quarter of 2017, 116 more than a 
year earlier. These employees mostly work at the subsidiaries 
dealing with property and facility management. The growth 
in the workforce is automatically reflected in personnel ex-
penses, which reached EUR 5.3 million in the first quarter of 
2017 (Q1 2016: EUR 4.3 million).

Other operating expenses amounted to EUR 7.3 million in 
the first quarter of 2017 (Q1 2016: EUR 5.0 million). This 
line item includes general administration expenses, office 
premise rents, IT expenses, legal and advisory expenses, 
impairments of receivables and public relations expenses. 
The increase in this item was ma inly due to higher legal and 
consulting expenses incurred in connection with the sale of 
conwert shares, the financing measures completed in April 
and the preparations now needed for the squeeze-out at 
Westgrund AG. No such activities occurred in the previous 
year’s period. Furthermore, part of the increase is also due 
to the introduction of a uniform IT system landscape at the 
operating subsidiaries, a measure that became necessary 
upon the internalisation of property and facility manage-
ment activities.
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The increasing expenses were nearly fully offset by income 
from fair value adjustments of investment properties and 
by additional other income. Other operating income in-
creased to EUR 2.3 million. In absolute terms, however, this 
item was only slightly higher than the previous year’s figure 
(Q1 2016: EUR 1.5 million) in the first three months of the 
current financial year. The fair value measurement of in-
vestment properties generated an earnings contribution of 
EUR 7.7 million in the first quarter of 2017. This resulted from 
the revaluation of individual commercial units whose values 
had to be adjusted in line with changes in market circumstanc-
es. In the first three months of the previous year, unscheduled 
adhoc valuations led to an income of EUR 4.8 million.

EBIT close to previous year’s figure

After the deduction of all non-financial expenses and income, 
earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) for the first quarter 
of 2017 came to EUR 32.5 million and were thus close to the 
equivalent figure for the previous year (EUR 33.0 million). 

Reduction in interest expenses

At minus EUR 24.3 million, the financial result for the first 
quarter of 2017 was slightly lower than the equivalent fig-
ure for the previous year’s quarter (minus EUR 24.9 million). 
Due above all to the buyback of higher-interest promissory 
note bonds – around EUR 62 million in the third quarter of 
2016 and EUR 30.0 million in the first quarter of 2017 – the 
company has managed to lower its interest charge. This re-
duction in interest expenses also benefited from ADLER Real 
Estate AG acquiring convertible bonds in the group com-
pany ACCENTRO Real Estate AG at a carrying amount of 
EUR 12.3 million. These bear interest at 6.25 percent. 

This decrease in the financial result does not yet adequate-
ly reflect the efforts made to reduce the interest charge, as 
one-off expenses totalling EUR 3.5 million were incurred in 
the first quarter of 2017. Of these, EUR 2.0 million related 
to prepayment penalties due to the repayment of liabilities 
with higher interest rates prior to their respective maturi-
ties, while EUR 1.5 million resulted from the reversal of the 
reserves recognised in equity in the previous year for the 
shares held in conwert. Furthermore, compared with the 
previous year’s quarter, additional interest expenses resulted 
from the convertible bond issued by ADLER Real Estate AG 
in the third quarter of 2016 with a total nominal value of 
EUR 137.9 million and an interest rate of 2.5 percent. 

Financial income increased slightly compared with the previ-
ous year.

Net of the financial result and income from investments ac-
counted for using the equity method, which fell to zero fol-
lowing the sale of the conwert shares, earnings before taxes 
(EBT) amounted to EUR 8.2 million in the first three months 
of 2017 (Q1 2016: EUR 8.7 million).

Income tax expenses came to EUR 5.2 million in the first 
quarter of 2017 (Q1 2016: EUR 4.2 million). Net of taxes, 
consolidated net profit for the period under report amount-
ed to EUR 3.0 million (Q1 2016: EUR 4.5 million). Of consoli-
dated net profit, EUR 1.5 million was attributable to share-
holders in the parent company (Q1 2016: EUR 3.4 million). 
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Segment reporting

In its segment reporting, ADLER Real Estate AG distin-
guishes between its Rental and Trading segments. All busi-
ness transactions executed in connection with the letting of 
investment properties are pooled in the Rental segment. The 
Trading segment includes all activities in connection with 
the purchase and sale of properties, including the broker-
age business on behalf of third parties. The “Other” column 
mainly comprises other group activities that do not con-
stitute standalone segments. These mainly involve historic 

holdings relating to development projects that have been 
sold off since the Group’s realignment or are still in the pro-
cess of being sold off. 

The allocation of income and earnings from the operating 
business to the Rental and Trading segments largely corre-
sponds to the equivalent line items in the consolidated in-
come statement. Furthermore, the allocation of the various 
expense items and the financial result to segments is pre-
sented in the following table: 

ADLER Group Trading Rental Other Group

In EUR millions 
Q1

2017
Q1

20161)
Q1

2017
Q1

20161)
Q1

2017
Q1

2016
Q1

2017
Q1

2016

Gross rental income and income 
from the sale of properties 20.8 20.5 73.5 66.0 0.0 0.6 94.3 87.1

	 of which gross rental income 1.9 1.8 64.9 63.6 0.0 0.1 66.9 65.5

	 of which income from disposals 18.5 18.5 8.6 2.4 0.0 0.5 27.1 21.3

	 of which income from brokerage 0.4 0.3 - - - - 0.4 0.3

Change in the value of investment properties - - 7.7 4.8 - - 7.7 4.8

Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) 4.8 5.7 27.9 27.2 -0.1 0.0 32.5 33.0

Income from investments accounted for using
the at-equity method - - - 0.6 - - - 0.6

Financial result -1.6 -1.3 -22.7 -23.5 0.0 0.0 -24.3 -24.9

Earnings before taxes (EBT) 3.2 4.4 5.2 4.3 -0.1 0.0 8.2 8.7

1) Amended statement: please see comments under “Segment Reporting” in the notes for the group financial statements

Further increase in funds from operations (FFO)

As is customary in the real estate sector, to assess the profit-
ability of its operating business ADLER Real Estate AG refers 
to funds from operations (FFO) as its major cash flow-based 
figure. FFO I presents the performance capacity of the prop-
erty letting business. FFO II additionally presents the results 
of trading with and sales of properties. 

As is documented in the overview provided below, FFO is de-
termined by first calculating earnings before interest, taxes, 
depreciation and amortisation, impairment losses and income 
from fair value adjustments of investment properties (EBITDA 
IFRS) and then adjusting this figure to exclude non-recurring 

and extraordinary items. The adjustments made involve items 
that are of a non-period nature, recur irregularly, are untypical 
to operations or not cash-effective. These relate in particular 
to the optimisation of existing and development of new busi-
ness fields and business processes, acquisition and integration 
expenses arising in the context of acquisitions, refinancing ex-
penses and capital-related measures and further one-off items 
such as settlements and impairments of receivables. Interest 
expenses directly incurred in connection with the operating 
business are then deducted from this adjusted EBITDA figure 
(FFO interest charge), as are any earnings generated from the 
sale of properties and current income taxes. Any investments 
made to maintain the substance of the properties but which 
have not been capitalised are then added. 
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In EUR millions Q1 2017 Q1 2016
Consolidated net profit 3.0 4.5
+	 Financial result 24.3 24.9

+	 Income taxes 5.2 4.2

+	 Depreciation and amortisation 0.3 0.3

–	 Income from measurement of investment properties 7.7 4.8

–	 Income from investments accounted for using the at-equity method 0.0 0.6

EBITDA IFRS 25.1 28.4

+/–	 Non-recurring and extraordinary items 2.7 2.5

Adjusted EBITDA 27.8 31.0

–	 Interest expense FFO 18.1 19.9

–	 Current income taxes 0.2 0.2

+	 Capitalisable maintenance measures 2.8 1.0

–	 Earnings before interest and taxes from the sale of properties 4.4 6.2

FFO I 7.9 5.7

+	 Earnings after interest and taxes from the sale of properties 2.2 3.4

–	 Interest from investments accounted for using the at-equity method 0.2 0.8

+	 Value change realised upon sale -0.7 0.0

+	 Liquidity-related income from investments accounted for using at-equity method 0.2 0.6

FFO II 9.4 8.9

Number of shares (basic)1) 58,317,088 56,709,297

FFO I per share (basic) 0.13 0.10

FFO II per share (basic) 0.16 0.16

Number of shares (diluted)2) 64,051,744 64,051,744

FFO I per share (diluted) 0.12 0.09

FFO II per share (diluted) 0.15 0.14

1) �47,711,028 shares as at balance sheet date (previous year: 46,103,237) plus 10,606,060 shares from assumed conversion of mandatory convertible bonds (previous year: 10,606,060) which are considered as equity
2) Plus 5,743,656 shares from assumed conversion of all other convertible bonds with entitlement to conversion (previous year: 7,342,447)
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Non-recurring and extraordinary items are structured as fol-
lows:

Non-recurring and extraordinary items
In EUR millions Q1 2017 Q1 2016

Non-cash income/expenses and one-off payments 0.0 1.9

Costs of acquisition/integration 0.2 0.1

Optimisation of business model, structuring 2.5 0.5

Total of non-recurring and extraordinary items 2.7 2.5

The FFO interest charge is derived as follows:

Interest expense FFO
In EUR millions Q1 2017 Q1 2016

Interest income 0.7 0.3

Interest expenses 25.0 -25.2

Total interest income -24.3 -24.9

Adjustments
Interest expenses from the sale of properties 1.1 1.8

Prepayment compensation and provision costs 2.1 0.3

Effects of measurement of primary financial instruments 1.4 2.9

Other adjustments 1.6 0

Interest expenses FFO -18.1 -19.9

Calculated this way, FFO I for the first quarter of 2017 
amounted to EUR 7.9 million, more than EUR 2.2 million or 
38.6 percent higher than the figure for the previous year’s 
period (EUR 5.7 million). The FFO II figure is reported at 
EUR 9.4 million and thus also exceeds the equivalent figure 
for the previous year (EUR 8.9 million). 

Calculated on an undiluted basis (shares issued plus shares 
arising from conversion of the mandatory convertible bond 
allocated to share capital), FFO I per share amounted to 
EUR 0.13 in the first quarter of 2017. On a diluted basis 
(shares issued plus shares arising from conversion of the 
mandatory convertible bond allocated to share capital plus 
shares from the assumed conversion of the other convertible 
bonds to the extent that they are already convertible), FFO I 
per share came to EUR 0.12.
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NET ASSETS

In EUR millions 31.03.2017
as percentage 
of total assets 31.12.2016

as percentage 
of total assets

Non-current assets 2,610.1 83.4 2,577.6 75.1
	 of which investments properties 2,474.4 79.0 2,442.0 71.2

Current assets 502.2 16.0 418.2 12.2
	 of which inventories 237.9 7.6 227.1 6.6

	 of which cash and cash equivalents investments 192.0 6.1 123.9 3.6

Non-current assets held for sale 18.4 0.6 434.7 12.7
Assets 3,130.7 100.0 3,430.5 100.0

Equity 895.8 28.6 914.2 26.6
	 of which capital stock 47.7 1.5 47.7 1.4

	 of which capital reserve 329.2 10.5 352.1 10.3

	 of which net retained profit 447.3 14.3 445.7 13.0

Non-current liabilities 2,030.2 64.8 2,111.2 61.5
	 of which liabilities from convertible bonds 132.1 4.2 143.9 4.2

	 of which liabilities from bonds 500.2 16.0 509.5 14.9

	 of which financial liabilities to banks 1,248.5 39.9 1,312.5 38.3

Current liabilities 196.6 6.3 397.5 11.6

	 of which financial liabilities to banks 120.9 3.9 320.3 9.3

Liabilities held for sale 8.1 0.3 7.6 0.2

Equity and liabilities 3,130.7 100.0 3,430.5 100.0

Both the balance sheet total (total assets) and the balance 
sheet structure changed significantly in the first quarter of 
2017 due to the sale of the shares held in conwert Immobil-
ien Invest SE and the acquisition of the portfolio of 701 rent-
al units close to Bremen. As at 31 December 2016, ADLER 
Real Estate AG reported assets of EUR 3,430.5 million. Three 
months later, on 31 March 2017, this figure was 8.7 percent 
lower (EUR 3,130.7 million). Above all, this is because the 
proceeds from the sale of the conwert shares were partly 
used to repay current liabilities of around EUR 199.7 million 
and non-current liabilities of EUR 30.0 million. 

Acquisition-driven expansion in investment 
properties

Investment properties had a market value of EUR 2,474.4 
million at the end of the first quarter of 2017, 1.3 percent 
higher than at the end of the previous year (EUR 2,442.0 
million). This growth was chiefly driven by the acquisition of 
the property portfolio of 701 rental units close to Bremen. 
The revaluation of existing property holdings contributed 
EUR 7.7 million in the first quarter. 

Investment properties accounted for 79.0 percent of total 
assets at the end of the first quarter of 2017.
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Following the sale of the shareholding of around 26 percent 
in conwert Immobilien Invest SE, non-current assets held for 
sale – the second-largest item on the asset side of the bal-
ance sheet at the end of the previous year – have now been 
virtually annulled. At the end of 2016, this item amounted to 
EUR 434.7 million but by the end of the first quarter of 2017 
it only included assets of EUR 18.4 million.

Properties held for trading have been recognised under in-
ventories at an amount of EUR 237.9 million at the end of 
the first three months. This corresponds to an increase of 
4.8 percent compared with the balance at the end of the pre-
vious year (EUR 227.1 million). ACCENTRO, the group com-
pany operating in the trading and privatisation business, sold 
a total of 169 units from its holdings in the first quarter and 
acquired 154 units with correspondingly higher fair values. 
ACCENTRO also acquired further units whose rights and ob-
ligations had not yet been transferred as at the balance sheet 
date. Inventory properties are measured at cost, which usu-
ally falls significantly short of the respective market value.

The three aforementioned items cover all of the properties 
holdings at ADLER Real Estate AG and together account for 
87.2 percent of the company’s total assets. 

Solid liquidity resources

Current assets amounted to EUR 502.2 million at the end of 
the first quarter of 2017. The increase compared with the end 
of the previous year was partly due to the growth in inven-
tory properties referred to above. To a greater extent, how-
ever, this increase resulted from cash and cash equivalents 
which, due above all to the sale of the conwert shares, rose 
from EUR 123.9 million to EUR 192.0 million. ADLER does 
not intend to retain those cash and cash equivalents exceed-
ing its working capital requirements on a permanent basis. 
The funds are rather to be used to repay liabilities with higher 
interest rates or to acquire additional property portfolios.

Equity decreases, equity ratio increases

Due to the liabilities already redeemed, the financing struc-
ture of ADLER Real Estate AG moved towards a higher share 
of equity in the first quarter of 2017. The equity ratio came to 
28.6 percent and was thus 2.0 percentage points higher than 
at the end of the previous year (26.6 percent).

Equity decreased from EUR 914.2 million to EUR 895.8 mil-
lion in the period under report. This was due to the EUR 22.8 
million charge on the capital reserve. This item resulted from 
the acquisition of convertible bonds in the group company 
ACCENTRO, a transaction serving to stabilise the prorated 
shareholding in ACCENTRO and reduce liabilities with high-
er interest rates.

Reduction in non-current liabilities

Non-current liabilities amounted to EUR 2,030.2 million as 
at 31 March 2017, EUR 81.0 million lower than at the end 
of the previous year (EUR 2,111.2 million). In addition to 
scheduled repayments, higher-interest promissory note 
bonds of EUR 30.0 million were also repaid in the first quar-
ter. Bond liabilities decreased due to the termination of a 
bond with a nominal value of EUR 10 million at the group 
company ACCENTRO, which was reclassified to current li-
abilities following its termination. Liabilities for convertible 
bonds also decreased due to the buyback of corresponding 
papers at ACCENTRO.

Of non-current liabilities, a sum of EUR 1,248.5 million – 
and thus the major share – involves secured liabilities to 
banks. Corporate bonds result in capital market liabilities 
of EUR 500.2 million, while convertible bonds account for 
EUR 132.1 million.

Current liabilities amounted to EUR 196.6 million at the end 
of the first quarter of 2017, EUR 200.9 million lower than 
at the end of the previous year (EUR 397.5 million). Above 
all, this reduction reflects the repayment of liabilities of 
EUR 199.7 million that had served to finance the acquisition 
of conwert shares and were repaid following the sale of these 
shares.

Net financial liabilities amounted to EUR 1,829.1 million at 
the end of the first three months of the current financial year 
and thus decreased substantially compared with the end of 
the previous year (EUR 2,172.1 million).
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Loan to value (LTV) approaches target value

The ratio of financial liabilities to total assets (loan to value), 
with both figures adjusted to exclude cash and cash equiva-
lents, amounted to 62.2 percent at the end of the period un-
der report, 3.5 percentage points lower than at the beginning 
of the year (65.7 percent). Assuming that the convertible 
bonds outstanding at the reporting date are converted into 

shares, LTV would amount to 57.7 percent, 3.6 percentage 
points lower than at the end of 2016. 

ADLER thus made substantial progress in the first three 
months of the current financial year alone towards reach-
ing the target it has set itself for 2017 of reducing LTV to 
55 percent.

In EUR millions 31.03.2017 31.12.2016
Convertible bonds 132.8 145.4

+	 Bonds 518.9 517.7

+	 Financial liabilities to banks 1,369.5 1,632.8

–	 Cash and cash equivalents 192.0 123.9

=	 Net financial liabilities 1,829.1 2,172.1

Assets1) 2,938.7 3.306.6

LTV including convertible bonds in % 62.2 65.7

LTV excluding convertible bonds in % 57.7 61.3

1) Adjusted for cash

 
Despite extensive debt repayments, it was not possible to 
further reduce the weighted average cost of debt (WACD) for 
all of the ADLER Group’s liabilities in the first quarter. This 
was mainly because the current liabilities redeemed in the 
period under report had comparatively low interest rates. 
WACD amounted to 3.78 percent at the end of the first quar-
ter, compared with 3.69 percent at the end of 2016. ADLER 

is nevertheless upholding its objective of reducing its WACD 
to 3.45 percent by the end of the year by reducing higher-
interest liabilities. After the end of the quarter under report, 
for example, the 2014/2019 corporate bond, which charged 
interest at 6.0 percent, was terminated and already repaid 
on 10 May.
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No further increase in net asset value (EPRA NAV) 
in first quarter

ADLER Real Estate AG refers to net asset value (NAV) as its 
key group management figure and calculates this in accord-
ance with the guidelines issued by the European Public Real 
Estate Association (EPRA). At the end of the first quarter of 
2017, NAV reached EUR 1,055.0 million. Due to the afore-
mentioned negative factor impacting on equity, NAV was 
1.4 percent lower than at the end of 2016 (EUR 1,069.9 mil-
lion). For the year as a whole, ADLER expects NAV to increase 
in a low double-digit percentage range, an increase that still 

appears realistic given the revaluations of properties due in 
the course of the year.

Based on the total number of existing shares in circulation 
at the balance sheet date plus the shares resulting from the 
assumed conversion of the mandatory convertible bond 
counted as equity, undiluted EPRA NAV per share amounted 
to EUR 18.09 at the end of the first quarter of 2017.

Diluted EPRA NAV per share amounted to EUR 16.70. 
ADLER Real Estate AG bases its NAV calculation on the 
equity attributable to shareholders in the parent company.

In EUR millions 31.03.2017 31.12.2016
Equity 895.8 914.2
Non-controlling interests -72.4 -71.0

Equity attributable to ADLER shareholders 823.4 843.2
Deferred tax liabilities 173.4 169.5

Difference between fair values and carrying amounts of inventory properties 53.5 52.1

Fair value of derivative financial instruments 6.6 7.4

Deferred taxes for derivative financial instruments -2.0 -2.2

EPRA NAV 1,055.0 1,069.9

Number of shares, basic1) 58,317,088 58,308,434

EPRA NAV per share in EUR 18.09 18.35

Number of shares, diluted2) 64,051,744 64,051,744

EPRA NAV per share (diluted) in EUR 16.70 16.93

1) 47,711,028 shares as at balance sheet date (previous year: 47,702,374) plus 10,606,060 shares from assumed conversion of mandatory bond (previous year: 10,606,060)
2) Plus 5,734,656 shares from assumed conversion (if possible) of other convertible bonds (previous year: 5,743,310)
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FINANCIAL POSITION

In EUR millions Q1 2017 Q1 2016
Cash flow from operating activities -0.6 18.8

Cash flow from investing activities 389.8 14.0

Cash flow from financing activities -321.1 -14.6

Cash-effective change in cash and cash equivalents 68.1 18.2

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 123.9 49.5

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 192.0 67.7

At EUR -0.6 million, the cash flow from operating activi-
ties in the first three months of the current financial year 
fell short of the previous year’s equivalent figure (EUR 18.8 
million). This development was influenced in particular by 
the increase in trading properties at ACCENTRO (outgoing 
payments of EUR 11.1 million), which contrasted with the 
reduction in property holdings in the previous year’s pe-
riod (incoming payments of EUR 6.0 million). At EUR 10.5 
million, by contrast, the operating cash flow before divest-
ments/reinvestments was only slightly lower than in the pre-
vious year (EUR 12.8 million). The difference here was due in 
particular to tax payments of EUR 2.6 million made in the 
first three months of the 2017 financial year. 

The cash flow from investing activities led to an overall inflow 
of funds of EUR 389.8 million in the first quarter of 2017. An 
amount of EUR 416.3 million was attributable to the sale of 
the shares held in conwert Immobilien Invest SE. This item 
was countered by an outflow of funds of EUR 28.5 million 
for the acquisition of a portfolio close to Bremen and invest-
ments of EUR 5.4 million in existing holdings, part of which 
related to the programme aimed at reducing vacancy rates.

Financing activities resulted in an overall outflow of funds 
amounting to EUR -321.1 million in the first quarter of 
2017. This was the extent by which funds were channelled 
into interest payments and repayments of existing financing 
facilities. Repayments particularly included current liabili-
ties of EUR 199.7 million which had served to finance the 
acquisition of the conwert shares and non-current promis-
sory note bond liabilities of EUR 30.0 million.

As at 31 March 2017, the ADLER Group had financial funds 
(cash and cash equivalents) of EUR 192.0 million.

The Group was at all times able to meet its payment obliga-
tions.

OVERALL SUMMARY OF BUSINESS PERFOR-
MANCE AND POSITION OF GROUP

Given the further development of existing property port-
folios, the successful initiation of the Group’s realignment, 
the ongoing improvement in its financing structure and the 
financing facilities secured on a long-term basis, the business 
performance and position of the Group are assessed as posi-
tive. A foundation has therefore been laid for a stable perfor-
mance in the future.
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ADLER made progress in its financial consoli- 
dation in the first quarter of 2017 and reduced 
its LTV by 3.6 percentage points to 57.7 percent.
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/// Group interim financial

statement as at

31 March 2017
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/// Consolidated Balance sheet

In EUR ´000 31.03.2017 31.12.2016
Assets 3,130,709 3,430,477

Non-current assets 2,610,135 2,577,578
Goodwill 130,552 130,552

Intangible assets 461 583

Property, plant and equipment 2,869 3,434

Investment properties 2,474,356 2,441,988

Investments in associated companies 324 497

Other financial investments 206 69

Other non-current assets 275 48

Deferred tax assets 1,092 408

Current assets 502,197 418,211
Inventories 237,979 227,057

Trade receivables 13,960 11,749

Income tax receivables 1,586 1,407

Other current assets 56,651 54,086

Cash and cash equivalents 192,021 123,911

Non-current assets held for sale 18,377 434,688

(IFRS) as at 31 March 2017
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In EUR ´000 31.03.2017 31.12.2016
Equity and liabilities 3,130,709 3,430,477

Shareholders’ equity 895,842 914,222
Capital stock 47,711 47,702

Capital reserve 329,235 352,105

Retained earnings -921 -2,510

Currency translation reserve 92 90

Net retained profit 447,310 445,786

Equity attributable to owners of the parent company 823,427 843,174

Non-controlling interests 72,415 71,048

Non-current liabilities 2,030,234 2,111,222
Pension reserves 4,882 4,954

Deferred tax liabilities 117,751 113,142

Other provisions 1,872 1,622

Liabilities from convertible bonds 132,111 143,870

Liabilities from bonds 500,213 509,454

Financial liabilities to banks 1,248,527 1,312,502

Other non-current liabilities 24,877 25,677

Current liabilities 196,552 397,482
Other provisions 2,945 3,926

Income tax liabilities 11,522 13,969

Liabilities from convertible bonds 681 1,554

Liabilities from bonds 18,670 8,281

Financial liabilities to banks 120,941 320,328

Trade payables 22,541 22,492

Other current liabilities 19,253 26,931

Liabilities held for sale 8,081 7,553
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/// Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
(IFRS) for the period from 1 January to 31 March 2017

In EUR ´000
3M 

2017
3M  

2016
Gross rental income 66,869 65,479

Expenses from property lettings -36,117 -34,749

Earnings from property lettings 30,753 30,730

Income from the sale of properties 27,460 21,633

Expenses from the sale of properties -22,828 -16,125

Earnings from the sale of properties 4,632 5,508

Personnel expenses -5,279 -4,315

Other operating income 2,286 1,545

Other operating expenses -7,302 -5,037

Income from fair value adjustments of investment properties 7,677 4,811

Depreciation and amortisation -261 -278

Earnings before interest and tax (EBIT) 32,505 32,964

Financial income 698 330

Financial costs -24,991 -25,207

Net income from at-equity valued investment associates 0 640

Earnings before taxes (EBT) 8,211 8,727

Income taxes -5,173 -4,247

Consolidated net profit 3,038 4,480

OCI SWAP – reclassifiable 0 118

Deferred taxes OCI – reclassifiable 0 -38

Gains/losses from currency translation 2 -4

Change in value of interests in companies accounted for under at equity 1,589 288

OCI gains/losses reclassifiable into profit or loss 1,592 364

Total comprehensive income 4,630 4,844

Profit attributable to:
Owners of the parent company 1,525 3,429

Non-controlling interests 1,513 1,051

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Owners of the parent company 3,117 3,793

Non-controlling interests 1,513 1,051

Earnings per share, basic (EUR) 0.03 0.06

Earnings per share, diluted (EUR) 0.03 0.06

42 ADLER REAL ESTATE ///  I n teri    m  re  p o rt   f o r  t h e  f irst     t h ree    m o n t h s  o f  2017

///  Co n s o l i dat e d  s tat e m e n t  o f  co m p r e h e n s i v e  i n co m e



/// Consolidated statement of cash flows
(IFRS) for the period from 1 January to 31 March 2017

In EUR ´000
3M  

2017
3M  

20161)

Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) 32,505 32,964

+		�  Depreciation and amortisation 261 278

–/+	� Net income from fair value adjustments of investment properties -7,677 -4,811

–/+	� Non-cash income/expenses 1,327 1,129

–/+	� Changes in provisions and accrued liabilities -803 137

–/+	� Increase/decrease in inventories, trade receivables and other assets 
not attributable to investment or financing activities -956 -5,313

–/+	� Increase/decrease in trade payables and other liabilities 
not attributable to investment or financing activities -12,132 -11,492

+	�	  Interest received 440 2

+	�	  Dividends received 173 0

+/–	� Tax payments -2,632 -83

=	�	  Operating cash flow before de-/reinvestment into the trading portfolio 10,506 12,811
–/+	� Increase/decrease in inventories (commercial properties) -11,128 6,000

=	� Net cash flow from operating activities -622 18,811

–	�	  Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired -488 0

–	�	  Purchase of investment properties -33,855 -7,459

+	�	  Disposal of investment properties, net of cash disposed 8,247 21,641

–	�	  Purchase of property, plant and equipment -176 -152

+	�	  Disposal of property, plant and equipment 8 0

+	�	  Proceeds from deinvestments of financial assets less costs to sell 416,260 0

–	�	  Investments in financial assets -137 0

=	� Net cash flows from investing activities 389,859 14,030
+	�	  Proceeds from issue of bonds 0 13,930
–	�	  Payments for acquisition of convertible bonds -35,127 0

–	�	  Payments from issuing debt 0 -14

–	�	  Interest payments -23,276 -15,400

+	�	  Proceeds from bank loans 16,878 7,730

–	�	  Repayment of bank loans -279,602 -20,848

=	� Net cash flows from financing activities -321,127 -14,602

		  Reconciliation to consolidated balance sheet

	� Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of periods 123,911 49,502
		�  Net cash flow from operating activities -622 18,811

		�  Net cash flow from investing activities 389,859 14,030

		�  Net cash flow from financing activities -321,127 -14,602
=	� Cash and cash equivalents at end of periods

192,021 67,741
1) The classification has been adapted: net income from at-equity not stated separately
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/// Consolidated statement of changes in equity
(IFRS) for the period from 1 January to 31 March 2017

In EUR ´000 Subscribed capital Capital reserve Retained profit

Currency 
translation

reserve Net profit/loss

Capital and 
reserves attribut-
able to the share-

holders of the 
parent company Minority interests Total equity

As at 1 January 2016 46,103 449,360 -88 92 223,891 719,358 58,562 777,921

Net result 0 0 0 0 3,429 3,429 1,051 4,480

Other result – reclassifiable 0 0 368 -3 0 365 0 365

Change in scope of consolidation 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Conversion of convertible bonds 0 0 0 0 0 0 80 80

As at 31 March 2016 46,103 449,360 280 89 227,320 723,152 59,693 782,846

As at 1 January 2017 47,702 352,105 -2,510 90 445,786 843,173 71,048 914,222

Net result 0 0 0 0 1,525 1,525 1,513 3,038

Other result – reclassifiable 0 0 1,589 2 0 1,591 0 1,591

Change in scope of consolidation 0 0 0 0 0 0 -2 -2

Increase/decrease in shareholding with no change in status 0 0 0 0 0 0 -488 -488

Acquisition of convertible bonds 0 -22,883 0 0 0 -22,883 0 -22,833

Conversion of convertible bonds 9 13 0 0 0 22 343 365

As at 31 March 2017 47,711 329,235 -921 92 447,310 823,427 72,415 895,842
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In EUR ´000 Subscribed capital Capital reserve Retained profit

Currency 
translation

reserve Net profit/loss

Capital and 
reserves attribut-
able to the share-

holders of the 
parent company Minority interests Total equity

As at 1 January 2016 46,103 449,360 -88 92 223,891 719,358 58,562 777,921

Net result 0 0 0 0 3,429 3,429 1,051 4,480

Other result – reclassifiable 0 0 368 -3 0 365 0 365

Change in scope of consolidation 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Conversion of convertible bonds 0 0 0 0 0 0 80 80

As at 31 March 2016 46,103 449,360 280 89 227,320 723,152 59,693 782,846

As at 1 January 2017 47,702 352,105 -2,510 90 445,786 843,173 71,048 914,222

Net result 0 0 0 0 1,525 1,525 1,513 3,038

Other result – reclassifiable 0 0 1,589 2 0 1,591 0 1,591

Change in scope of consolidation 0 0 0 0 0 0 -2 -2

Increase/decrease in shareholding with no change in status 0 0 0 0 0 0 -488 -488

Acquisition of convertible bonds 0 -22,883 0 0 0 -22,883 0 -22,833

Conversion of convertible bonds 9 13 0 0 0 22 343 365

As at 31 March 2017 47,711 329,235 -921 92 447,310 823,427 72,415 895,842
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 ADLER’s group-internal property and facility 
management took over the administration 
of a further 10,000 rental units in proprietary 
portfolios in the first quarter of 2017.
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/// Selected notes on the group interim

financial statements in accordance with IFRS

as at March 2017
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/// �SELECTED NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (IFRS)

GENERAL INFORMATION

ADLER Real Estate Aktiengesellschaft (hereinafter “ADLER”) is the parent company of the Group and has 
its legal domicile at Joachimsthaler Strasse 34, Berlin, Germany. The company is entered in the Commercial 
Register of Charlottenburg District Court under HRB 180360. Its financial year is the calendar year. 

ADLER is a publicly listed real estate company focusing on establishing and developing a substantial and prof-
itable property portfolio. Its activities are centred on the acquisition and management of residential proper-
ties throughout Germany. 

ADLER’s activities have the objective of investing in residential properties which offer sustainable potential 
for value appreciation and whose current income contributes to the company’s overall success. The company’s 
operating strategy also includes active value creation, i.e. improving its existing residential property portfo-
lios by means of expansion, conversion or modernisation measures.

Furthermore, ADLER’s core activities also include trading with residential properties and individual apart-
ments. Within the ADLER Group, trading activities are largely covered by the Group’s majority interest in the 
listed company ACCENTRO Real Estate AG (hereinafter “ACCENTRO”). 

BASIS OF ACCOUNTING

Basis of preparation

The interim consolidated financial statements as at 31 March 2017 have been prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as requiring mandatory application in the European Un-
ion. The consolidated financial statements, comprising the consolidated balance sheet, the consolidated state-
ment of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity, the consolidated cash flow 
statements and selected note disclosures, also take particular account of the requirements of IAS 34 “Interim 
Financial Reporting”.

In accordance with IAS 34.41, greater reference is made to estimates and assumptions when preparing the 
interim consolidated financial statements than is the case for annual reporting. ADLER has adjusted the 
valuation of its investment properties to changes in the market environment. No other changes in estimates 
with material implications for the Group’s net assets, financial position and results of operations arose in the 
interim reporting period.

The interim consolidated financial statements have been prepared in euros (EUR), the functional currency of 
the Group. Unless otherwise indicated, all figures presented in euros have been rounded up or down to the 
nearest thousand euros (EUR thousands). Statements of thousand euro amounts may result in discrepancies 
due to rounding up or down. Figures in brackets generally refer to the previous year.

Further information about the accounting policies can be found in the consolidated financial statements as at 
31 December 2016, which form the basis for these interim consolidated financial statements.
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Accounting standards applicable for the first time in the 2017 financial year

To date, there have been no amendments to standards or interpretations requiring first-time mandatory 
application in the EU in the 2017 financial year.

No premature application has been made of new standards and interpretations only requiring mandatory 
application from 1 January 2018.

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

Subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements in accordance with the requirements of 
IFRS 10. Subsidiaries are all entities that are controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when it 
has direct or indirect decision-making powers over the respective group company in the form of voting or 
other rights, participates in the positive and negative variable returns from the group company and can influ-
ence these returns due to its decision-making powers. These criteria have to be cumulatively fulfilled.

Subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements (full consolidation) from the date on which 
the Group gains control. They are deconsolidated from the date on which control ceases.

Companies over which the Group can exercise significant influence are recognised as associates using the eq-
uity method in accordance with IAS 28. Significant influence is presumed when a group company directly or 
indirectly holds no less than 20 percent but no more than 50 percent of the voting rights. 

Further information about consolidation principles can be found in the comments in the “Consolidation 
principles” section of the 2016 Annual Report. 

49ADLER REAL ESTATE ///  I n teri    m  re  p o rt   f o r  t h e  f irst     t h ree    m o n t h s  o f  2017

///  S e l e c t e d  n ot e s  to  t h e  i n t e r i m  co n s o l i d at e d  f i n a n c i a l  s tat e m e n t s  ( I F RS  )



SCOPE OF CONSOLIDATION AND BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

Including the parent company, the scope of consolidation includes a total of 128 companies (31 December 
2016: 127) which are fully consolidated and a further five companies that are recognised at equity. 

Three companies were newly included in the scope of consolidation in the period under report. Two compa-
nies were merged into other companies within the scope of consolidation. 

The new additions result from the founding of three new companies for the privatisation business. Follow-
ing the exit of one shareholder in each case, MBG Moosburg GmbH & Co. KG and Dritte ADLER Real Estate 
GmbH & CO. KG were each merged into the respective remaining shareholder within the scope of consolidation.

These measures did not have any material implications for the Group’s net assets, financial position or results 
of operations. 

SEGMENT REPORTING

The ADLER Group is organised into the following segments:

1. Rental: This segment chiefly comprises investment properties. It also includes a small number of inventory 
properties not allocated to the Trading segment.

2. Trading: This segment includes purchases and sales of properties, in which individual apartments are gen-
erally sold to private investors. The brokerage business associated with the privatisation of residential prop-
erties is also allocated to this segment. As the properties are temporarily owned by the company, alongside 
income from the sale of properties, a low volume of gross rental income is also reported in this segment.

Other Group activities that do not constitute standalone segments are pooled in the “Other” column. These 
mainly relate to historic holdings at ADLER that have already been or are in the process of being sold. 

Segment reporting based on the Rental and Trading segments is consistent with the internal reporting sys-
tem to ADLER’s Management Board, which is the top management body pursuant to IFRS (management 
approach). As the Group only trades in properties that are located in Germany, no geographical segmentation 
has been performed.

In the course of the strategic alignment of ACCENTRO, this subsidiary has focused on the Trading segment. 
Segment reporting was correspondingly adjusted in the fourth quarter of 2016. This particularly involves a 
higher share of ACCENTRO’s personnel and financial expenses being allocated to the Trading segment. The 
previous year’s comparative earnings figures have been correspondingly adjusted.
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Income and EBIT for the period from 1 January 2017 to 31 March 2017 and for the previous year’s compara-
tive period are broken down across the segments as follows: 

ADLER Group
In EUR 000s – 3 months

Trading Rental Other Group

2017 20161) 2017 20161) 2017 2016 2017 2016

Gross rental income and income from 
the sale of properties 20,790 20,520 73,492 66,015 47 577 94,329 87,112

	 thereof gross rental income 1,943 1,751 64,879 63,632 47 96 66,869 65,479

	 thereof income from sales 18,495 18,470 8,613 2,383 0 481 27,108 21,334

	 thereof income from brokerage 352 299 0 0 0 0 352 299

Change in the value of investment 
property 0 0 7,677 4,811 0 0 7,677 4,811

EBIT 4,753 5,748 27,883 27,186 - 131 30 32,505 32,964

Income from investments accounted for 
using the equity method 0 0 0 640 0 0 0 640

Financial result -1,584 -1,343 -22,715 - 23,525 6 -9 -24,293 -24,877

Earnings before taxes (EBT) 3,169 4,404 5,166 4,303 -124 21 8,211 8,728
1) Amended statement

The Trading segment generated an income of EUR 20,790k in the first three months, of which EUR 18,495k 
(EUR 18,470k) resulted from sales. EBIT in this segment amounted to EUR 4,753k (EUR 5,748k) and earn-
ings before taxes came to EUR 3,169k (EUR 4,404k). 

Revenues in the Rental segment amounted to EUR 73,492k (EUR 66,015k). Gross rental income increased 
from EUR 63,632k to EUR 64,879k. Changes in the value of investment properties amounted to EUR 7,677k 
(EUR 4,811k) in the first three months of the year. Three-month EBIT in the Rental segment amounted to 
EUR 27,883k (EUR 27,186k), while earnings before taxes came to EUR 5,166k (EUR 4,303k). 

The EBIT and Earnings before taxes were negatively affected by one-off items in the first three months; this 
particulary relates to the Rental segment. Personnel expenses rose overall by EUR 965k compared with the 
first three months of 2016. This is due to the fact that in the course of ADLER’s realignment as an integrated 
real estate group, tasks have been removed from third-party service providers and taken over by departments 
within the Group that have either been newly created or whose personnel resources have been boosted. The 
total increase in other operating expenses by EUR 2,266k to EUR 7,302k was mainly due to legal and advisory 
costs incurred in connection with the redemption of financial liabilities and the announced squeeze-out at 
WESTGRUND AG (hereinafter “WESTGRUND”), as well as to the introduction of a uniform group-wide IT 
system landscape that was necessary to facilitate the internalisation of property and facility management 
activities. The redemption of financial liabilities with higher interest rates resulted in financial expenses of 
EUR 1,968k for prepayment penalties. The reversal of reserves recognised in equity resulting from the assign-
ment of conwert shares led to financial expenses of EUR 1,589k.
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Segment assets, segment liabilities and segment investments were structured as follows as at 31 March 2017: 

ADLER Group
In EUR 000s 
as at 31 March 2017 Trading Rental Other Consolidation Group

Segment assets 300,305 2,845,068 9,831 -24,819 3,130,385

Investments accounted for using 
the equity method 298 26 0 0 324

Total segment assets 300,603 2,845,094 9,831 -24,819 3,130,709
Segment liabilities 161,567 2,087,880 10,239 -24,819 2,234,867
Segment investments 5,080 33,855 0 0 38,935

Segment assets, segment liabilities and segment investments were structured as follows as at 31 December 2016:

ADLER Group
In EUR 000s 
as at 31 December 2016 Trading Rental Other Consolidation Group

Segment assets 290,198 3,157,181 7,681 -25,080 3,429,980

Investments accounted for using 
the equity method 472 25 0 0 497

Total segment assets 290,670 3,157,206 7,681 -25,080 3,430,477
Segment liabilities 160,068 2,374,046 7,223 -25,080 2,516,257
Segment investments 96,075 133,154 0 0 229,229
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SELECTED NOTES ON THE CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

Investment properties

The carrying amount of investment properties amounted to EUR 2,474,356k as at the balance sheet date 
(31 December 2016: EUR 2,441,988k). This increase was chiefly due to EUR 28,500k being used for the 
acquisition as at 31 March 2017 of a real estate portfolio with 693 residential and eight commercial units 
in Osterholz-Scharmbeck and Schwanewede and measurement results of EUR 7,677k. These items were 
opposed by disposals, including IFRS 5 reclassifications, amounting to EUR 8,494k. 

Inventories

Inventories include EUR 233,033k for properties acquired for sale (31 December 2016: EUR 219,523k), 
EUR 4,906k for advance payments (31 December 2016: EUR 7,486k) and EUR 41k for other inventories 
(31 December 2016: EUR 49k). The increase in inventory properties acquired for sale was mainly due to the 
acquisition by ACCENTRO for privatisation. This development was countered by retirements resulting from 
disposals of inventory properties at ACCENTRO.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents amounted to EUR 192,021k at the balance sheet date, as against EUR 123,911k at 
the end of the previous year. A sum of EUR 15,655k is subject to restraints on disposal (EUR 13,370k).

Non-current assets held for sale

With the approval of the Supervisory Board, in the 2016 financial year ADLER’s Management Board decided 
to tender all of the shareholding in conwert Immobilien Invest SE (“conwert”) held via ADLER’s subsidiary 
MountainPeak Trading Ltd. (“MountainPeak”) for the takeover bid addressed to conwert’s shareholders on 
5 September 2016 by Vonovia SE (“Vonovia”). Due to the tender commitment agreement with Vonovia, the 
shares were recognised as non-current assets held for sale for the first time in the 2016 financial year. 

In December 2016, the ADLER Group tendered its shareholding of around 26 percent in conwert within the 
framework of the voluntary takeover bid successfully addressed by Vonovia to shareholders in conwert. With 
Vonovia’s approval, it selected the option of cash consideration. In January 2017, the consideration was re-
ceived for the assignment of the conwert shares within the voluntary takeover bid addressed by Vonovia to 
conwert’s shareholders.

The shares were measured at the lower of their carrying amount and their fair value less costs to sell. As at 
31 December 2016, fair value less costs to sell as based on the consideration offered in Vonovia’s voluntary 
takeover bid was lower than the previous carrying amount. As a result, an impairment loss was recognised.

Apart from the reversal of the reserves recognised in equity for the conwert shares, the retirement of the 
shares at a carrying amount of EUR 416,260k has therefore not impacted on earnings in the 2017 financial 
year. The reversal of the reserves recognised in equity for the conwert shares led to expenses of EUR 1,589k, 
which have been recognised in the financial result in line with the impairment loss recognised in the previous 
year.

53ADLER REAL ESTATE ///  I n teri    m  re  p o rt   f o r  t h e  f irst     t h ree    m o n t h s  o f  2017

///  S e l e c t e d  n ot e s  to  t h e  i n t e r i m  co n s o l i d at e d  f i n a n c i a l  s tat e m e n t s  ( I F RS  )



The other non-current assets held for sale include properties recognised at a value of EUR 18,377k 
(31 December 2016: EUR 18,428k), for which notarial purchase contracts were available at the balance sheet 
date. Liabilities relating to the properties sold have accordingly been reported as liabilities held for sale. The 
disposal of the non-current assets reported as held for sale in the previous year did not have any material 
impact on earnings, as the assets were already measured at fair value. This corresponded to the sale price for 
the properties less related expenses. 

Shareholders’ equity

The capital stock of ADLER AG amounted to EUR 47,711k as at 31 March 2017 (31 December 2016: 
EUR 47,702k) and is divided into 47,711,028 no-par ordinary shares (31 December 2016: 47,702,374) with 
one voting right per share. 

The capital reserve decreased by EUR 22,883k, which corresponded to the capital share for the acquisition of 
convertible bonds in ACCENTRO.

ADLER further increased its shareholding in WESTGRUND without this resulting in any change of status.

Further details can be found in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

Liabilities for convertible bonds

Liabilities for convertible bonds were structured as follows as at the balance sheet date:

In EUR 000s 31.03.2017 31.12.2016
2013/2017 convertible bond 9,077 9,009

2013/2018 convertible bond 4,063 4,036

2015/2018 mandatory convertible bond 1,379 1,594

2016/2021 convertible bond 117,079 116,897

ACCENTRO AG 2014/2019 convertible bond 1,194 13,888

Total 132,792 145.424
	 thereof non-current 132,111 143,870

	 thereof current 681 1,554

The reduction in the liabilities for the ACCENTRO AG 2014/2019 convertible bond mainly resulted from the 
acquisition by ADLER of bonds with a nominal value of EUR 11,858k.

To the extent that they have not yet been converted as at the balance sheet date, the debt capital components 
of the convertible bonds have been recognised less prorated transaction costs and deferred taxes under non-
current liabilities. Current bond liabilities involve the interest claims of the bondholders as at the balance 
sheet date.
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Liabilities for bonds

Liabilities for bonds were structured as follows as at the balance sheet date:

In EUR 000s 31.03.2017 31.12.2016
2013/2018 bond 33,691 35,884

2014/2019 bond 128,009 129,761

2015/2020 bond 346,569 341,747

ACCENTRO AG 2013/2018 bond 10,614 10,443

Total 518,883 517,735
	 thereof non-current 500,213 509,454

	 thereof current 18,670 8,281

ACCENTRO has decided to prematurely repay its 2013/2018 bond. This bond, which has a total nominal 
volume of EUR 10 million, will be fully repaid on 26 June 2017 at a price of 101.5 percent plus interest accu-
mulated on the nominal amount as at the repayment date. The bond liabilities have therefore been recognised 
under current liabilities as at the balance sheet date.

The nominal amounts of the bonds have been recognised less transaction costs and deferred taxes under 
non-current liabilities. These amounts are expensed on a time-apportioned basis using the effective interest 
method. The interest claims of the bondholders as at the balance sheet date have been recognised under cur-
rent liabilities.

Financial liabilities to banks

Non-current financial liabilities to banks amounted to EUR 1,248,527k as at the balance sheet date 
(31 December 2016: EUR 1,312,502k). Of the reduction compared with the end of the previous year, 
EUR 29,782k was due to unscheduled repayments of promissory note bonds with higher interest rates.

Current financial liabilities to banks amounted to EUR 120,941k as at the balance sheet date (31 December 
2016: EUR 320,328k). The reduction compared with the end of the previous year was mainly due to repay-
ment of the loan to finance the acquisition of conwert shares (EUR 199,707k including interest).
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SELECTED NOTES ON THE STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Gross rental income

Gross rental income is structured as follows:

 

In EUR 000s 3M 2017 3M 2016
Net rental income 43,916 42,036

Income from recoverable expenses 22,443 22,435

Other income from property management 510 1,008

Total 66,869 65,479

Expenses from property lettings

Expenses from property lettings are broken down as follows:

In EUR 000s 3M 2017 3M 2016
Apportionable and non-apportionable operating costs 30,232 28,928

Maintenance 5,615 5,653

Other property management expenses 269 168

Total 36,117 34,749

Income from the sale of properties

Income from the sale of properties is structured as follows:

In EUR 000s 3M 2017 3M 2016
Income from the sale of inventory properties 18,495 18,951

Income from the sale of investment properties 8,613 2,383

Brokerage revenue 352 299

Total 27,460 21,633

Income from the sale of inventory properties relates exclusively to disposals at ACCENTRO AG (previous 
year: EUR 18,470k).
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Expenses from the sale of properties

Expenses from the sale of properties are structured as follows:

In EUR 000s 3M 2017 3M 2016
Retirement of inventory properties 13,660 13,339

Retirement of investment properties 8,332 2,109

Sales-related costs 618 496

Services procured for brokerage revenue 218 181

Total 22,828 16,125

Retirements of inventory properties relate exclusively to disposals at ACCENTRO AG (previous year: 
EUR 12,864k). 

Income from the measurement of investment properties

Income from the measurement of investment properties amounted to EUR 7,677k (EUR 4,811k) and com-
prises an income of EUR 7,760k from fair value adjustments (EUR 4,849k) and expenses of EUR 83k for fair 
value adjustments (EUR 38k).

Financial costs

Financial costs are structured as follows:

In EUR 000s 3M 2017 3M 2016
Interest expenses for bank loans 11,192 14,245

Interest expenses for bonds 8,034 7,822

Interest expenses for convertible bonds 2,225 429

Other 3,540 2,711

Total 24,991 25,207

Other financial costs include a sum of EUR 1,968k for prepayment penalties in connection with repayments 
of financial liabilities with higher interest rates and a sum of EUR 1,589k for the reversal of the reserves rec-
ognised in equity for the conwert shares. Reference is made in this respect to the comments under “Non-cur-
rent assets held for sale”. In the previous year, other financial costs mainly related to interest swap expenses.
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DISCLOSURES ON FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FAIR VALUE DISCLOSURES

The classification of financial instruments required in accordance with IFRS 7 was unchanged compared with 
31 December 2016. There were no reclassifications within the categories of financial instruments or the fair 
value hierarchy levels in the period under report. 

The allocation of assets and liabilities measured at fair value in accordance with the input factors of the 
respective measurement method was unchanged compared with 31 December 2016. Investment properties 
are still allocated to Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy.

OTHER DISCLOSURES

Related party disclosures

There have been no material changes in related parties compared with the information provided on 
31 December 2016.

Financial risk management

The material risks monitored and managed by the Group’s financial risk management include interest rate, 
default, liquidity and financing risks. There have been no material changes in these risks since 31 December 
2016. A detailed description of these risks can be found in the notes to the consolidated financial statements 
as at 31 December 2016.

Events after the balance sheet date

In April 2017, the Supreme Court of the Republic of Austria confirmed the decisions taken by the Austrian 
Takeover Commission on 22 November 2016 in respect of ADLER’s former shareholding in conwert. ADLER 
continues to reject the charges brought by the Takeover Commission and is reviewing further legal options.

In April 2017, ADLER successfully stocked up its 2015/2020 bond (EUR 350 million; 4.75 percent) by a sum 
of EUR 150 million at an issue price of 104.4 percent (equivalent to interest of around 2.5 percent). The net 
proceeds from the issue are mainly to be used to finance the acquisition of real estate portfolios, refinance 
liabilities with higher interest rates and for general company-related purposes. 

In this regard, ADLER also decided to terminate the 2014/2019 bond (EUR 130 million; 6.0 percent) and 
to repay this prematurely on 10 May 2017 at 101.5 percent of the nominal amount of the bonds, plus 
(exclusively) the interest accumulated and not yet paid as at the repayment date.

With the invitation to the 2017 Annual General Meeting, the Management and Supervisory Boards pro-
posed issuing bonus shares at a ratio of 1:10 to enable shareholders to participate in the company’s successful 
growth in recent years. 

Other than the above, no material events have occurred since the balance sheet date.
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/// Affirmation by the Legal Representatives

/// legal remark

Statements Pursuant to § 37y No. 1 of the Securities Trading Act

“We hereby affirm to the best of our knowledge, pursuant to the applicable accounting principles for interim 
financial reporting, with due regard for the requirements of § 37w of the Securities Trading Act, that these 
interim consolidated financial statements convey a true and fair view of the Group’s financial, earnings and 
liquidity position, that the course of business, including the results of operations and the position of the 
Group, is represented in the interim consolidated management report in such a manner as to convey a true 
and fair view and that all essential opportunities and risks foreseeable for the Group in the remainder of the 
financial year are described.”

Berlin, 15 May 2017

Arndt Krienen 					S     ven-Christian Frank
CEO 						COO     

This report contains future-oriented statements that reflect the current management views of ADLER Real 
Estate AG regarding future events. Every statement in this report that reflects intentions, assumptions, ex-
pectations or predictions, as well as the assumptions on which they are based, constitutes such a future-
oriented statement. These statements are based on plans, estimates and forecasts currently available to the 
management of ADLER Real Estate AG. Therefore, they only apply to the day on which they are made. By 
their nature, future-oriented statements are subject to risks and uncertainty factors, and the actual develop-
ments can deviate considerably from the future-oriented statements or the events implicity expressed in 
them. ADLER Real Estate AG is not obligated, nor does it intend, to update such statements in view of new 
information or future events.
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/// Glossary

EBIT
Earnings before Interest and Tax
Consolidated earnings before interest and tax – an indica-
tor of the result of operations, also includes measurement 
gains/losses for investment property and profits generated 
from real estate disposals.

EBITDA
Earnings before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and 
Amortisation 
Defined as operating earnings (earnings before interest and 
taxes) plus depreciation and amortisation, or as earnings 
before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation. This 
key figure is unaudited. Potential investors should note that 
EBITDA is not a uniformly applied or standardised key fig-
ure and that its calculation may vary widely from company 
to company. Taken alone, EBITDA therefore does not neces-
sarily provide a basis for comparison with other companies. 

Adjusted EBITDA
EBITDA adjusted to exclude the result of measurement of in-
vestment property, associates measured at equity results and 
one-off and non-recurring items – an indicator of operating 
earnings excluding measurement and special items.

FFO I
Funds from Operations I 
Adjusted EBITDA less interest charge for FFO, current taxes 
on income, investments to maintain substance and earnings 
before interest and taxes in the Trading and Other Activities 
segment – an indicator of cash flow-based operating earn-
ings excluding disposals.

FFO II
Funds from Operations II
FFO I plus earnings from disposals of investment property – 
an indicator of cash flow-based operating earnings including 
disposals.

EPRA
European Public Real Estate Association Association of pub-
licly listed real estate companies, after which the EPRA Index 
is named. 

EPRA – NAV
Net asset value based on EPRA
Equity allocable to shareholders adjusted to exclude deferred 
taxes, value differences between fair values and carrying 
amounts of real estate and present value of derivative finan-
cial instruments – an indicator of company value.

LTV 
Loan-to-value
Ratio of net financial liabilities (liabilities to banks less cash 
and cash equivalents) to total assets less cash and cash equiv-
alents – an indicator of financial stability.

Swap
Designation for financial derivatives (financial instruments) 
based on a payment flow swap transaction between two par-
ties. An interest swap designates a swap transaction in which 
two parties undertake to periodically swap interest pay-
ments over a previously agreed period.

Dilution of shares
Reduction in the value of a share resulting from new shares 
being issued in a capital increase executed without subscrip-
tion rights.

WACD 
Weighted average cost of debt 
Weighted average cost of interest paid on debt – a measure-
ment of current interest charge on debt financing. 
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/// At a glance

Supervisory Board
Dr. Dirk Hoffmann Chairman of the Supervisory Board

Thomas Katzuba von Urbisch Vice Chairman of the Supervisory Board

Thilo Schmid Member of the Supervisory Board 

Management Board
Arndt Krienen Chairman of the Management Board

Sven-Christian Frank Member of the Management Board 

Company Facts

Legal domicile Berlin Charlottenburg, Berlin HRB 180360 B

Address ADLER Real Estate Aktiengesellschaft
Joachimsthaler Straße 34
10719 Berlin
Phone: +49 30 398018 – 10
E-Mail: info@adler-ag.com

Website www.adler-ag.com

Investor relations/public relations ADLER Real Estate Aktiengesellschaft 
Dr. Rolf-Dieter Grass 
Joachimsthaler Straße 34 
10719 Berlin 
Phone: +49 30 2000914 – 29 
E-Mail: r.grass@adler-ag.com

Capital stock EUR 47,711,0281)

Classification 47,711,0281) no-par value shares.

Arithmetical value EUR 1 per share

Voting right 1 vote per share

Identification WKN		  500 800
ISIN		  DE0005008007
Ticker symbol	 ADL
Reuters		  ADLG.DE

Designated sponsors ODDO SEYDLER BANK AG
HSBC Trinkaus & Burkhardt AG

Stock exchanges Xetra, Frankfurt am Main

Indices SDAX, CDAX, FTSE EPRA/NAREIT Global Real Estate Index, GPR General Index, DIMAX

Financial year Calendar year
1) As at 30 September 2016
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10719 Berlin
Phone:	 +49 30 398018 – 10
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